
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
Alison Marston 

 
21 September 2022 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 29 September 
2022 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts, AL8 6AE 
 
Please note that this is the meeting that was previously scheduled for Thursday 8th 
September 2022.  
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Governance Services Manager 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Committee Members made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2022 
(previously circulated). 
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 12 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA  
 

Public Document Pack



5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda. 
 

6.   THE BUNGALOW GREAT NORTH ROAD HATFIELD HERTFORDSHIRE AL9 
6DB - 6/2022/0598/OUTLINE - OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION 
OF TWO DETACHED DWELLINGS (BUNGALOW DESIGN) WITH ALL 
MATTERS RESERVED (Pages 5 - 12) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning). 
 

7.   CARRAMORE HOUSE 50 VINEYARDS ROAD NORTHAW POTTERS BAR EN6 
4PD - 6/2022/0293/OUTLINE - OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR THE ERECTION OF 
1 X DWELLING WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED  
 

 Withdrawn from the agenda.  
 

8.   4 STRAWBERRY FIELD, HATFIELD, AL10 8LS - 6/2022/0061/FULL - CHANGE 
OF USE FROM A RESIDENTIAL DWELLING (USE CLASS C3(A)) TO 
RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME TO ACCOMMODATE 3 X CHILDREN (USE CLASS 
C2) (Pages 13 - 22) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning). 
 

9.   22A CHURCH LANE NORTHAW POTTERS BAR EN6 4NX - 6/2021/2754/FULL - 
ERECTION OF A 5-BEDROOM DETACHED DWELLING (Pages 23 - 48) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning). 
 

10.   WELLS FARM NORTHAW ROAD EAST CUFFLEY POTTERS BAR EN6 4RD - 
6/2020/3451/MAJ - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND ERECTION 
OF 14 DWELLINGS (Pages 49 - 98) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning). 
 

11.   PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 99 - 120) 
 

 Report of the Assistant Director (Planning). 
 

12.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

13.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 14 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the identity of an 



individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said 
Act (as amended). 
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
 

PART II 
 

14.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN  

 
Circulation: Councillors J.Boulton (Chairman) 

R.Trigg (Vice-Chairman) 
J.Broach 
J.Cragg 
C Juggins 
N.Pace 
D.Panter 
 

J.Ranshaw 
D.Richardson 
J.Skoczylas 
P.Shah 
S.Tunstall 
J.Weston 
 

 Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Alison 
Marston, Governance Service on 07824 126620 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Ashley Ransome 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(Welham Green and South Hatfield) 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING)  
 
6/2022/0598/OUTLINE 
 
THE BUNGALOW GREAT NORTH ROAD HATFIELD HERTFORDSHIRE AL9 6DB 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF TWO DETACHED DWELLINGS 
(BUNGALOW DESIGN) WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED 
 
APPLICANT: MR DANIEL BRUNT 
 
1 Background 

 
1.1 This application follows a recent application under reference 

6/2021/0237/OUTLINE for a similar proposal which was refused for the following 
reasons: 
 
1. The proposed development constitutes inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt, causes harm to the openness of the Green Belt and conflicts with 
the purposes of including land within the Breen Belt. The harm by reason of 
inappropriateness, and the other harm identified, is not clearly outweighed by 
other material planning considerations such as to constitute the very special 
circumstances necessary to permit inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policies H2, RA14 and D2 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Supplementary Design Guidance; 
Policies SADM1 and SADM34 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 
2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
1.2 The decision of 6/2021/0237/OUTLINE was however appealed, and the 

application was allowed (Appeal Reference: APP/C1950/W/21/3272408). 
 

1.3 In terms of whether the proposal represented inappropriate development within 
the Metropolitan Green Belt, the Inspector assessed the proposal against 
Paragraph 149 (e) of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 
allows for limited infilling in villages. 
 

1.4 The Inspector concluded that as the proposal was for a single dwelling, it 
therefore fell within the definition of ‘limited’. 
 

1.5 There was however a dispute between the parties as to whether Bell Bar is a 
village or hamlet. The Inspector concluded that Bell Bar is a village and with the 
infrastructure surrounding the site, that the proposed development did constitute 
limited infilling. 
 

1.6 As the site was found to fall within limited infilling, there was no requirement to 
consider the impacts on openness or the purposes of the Green Belt as set out 
within the NPPF. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 
1.7 The Inspector concluded that the proposed development is not inappropriate 

development within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Moreover, it was therefore not 
necessary to consider the proposal as a windfall site. 
 

2 Site Description 
 

2.1 The application site comprises a piece of land which is largely free from any built 
structures, however a substantial amount of the plot is finished with hard 
surfacing. The site at present appears to be in use for the storage of motor 
vehicles. 
 

3 The Proposal 
 

3.1 This application seeks outline permission for the erection of two detached 
dwellings with all matters reserved. As such, the principle of the development will 
be considered. 
 

3.2 The dwellings are to be of bungalow design and the existing access owned by 
The Bungalow to the east is to be utilised. 

 
4 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
4.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because North Mymms Parish Council have submitted a Major Objection. 
 

5 Relevant Planning History 
 
5.1 Application Number: S6/1998/0462/FP 

Decision: Refused 
Decision Date: 13 July 1998 
Proposal: Erection of new dwelling 

 
5.2 Application Number: 6/2021/0237/OUTLINE 

Decision: Refused; Appeal Allowed 
Decision Date: 24 March 2021; 04 February 2022 
Proposal: Outline permission for the erection of a detached dwelling with all 
matters reserved. 

 
6 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
6.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
6.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
6.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
6.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
6.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 

Page 6



7 Site Designation  
 

7.1 The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt as designated in the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005. 
 

8 Representations Received  
 
The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and a 
site notice. No representations have been received,  

 
9 Consultations Received 
 
9.1 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 

proposal in principle, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 

 Thames Water 
 
10 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
10.1 North Mymms Parish Council have raised a major objection to the proposed 

development for the reasons set out below: 
 

“Two bungalows on this site would be too much as they would obscure 
more of the Green Belt therefore be harmful to the openness and visual 
amenity. NMPC are concerned about the additional access onto the 
A1000 at a busy point on this main arterial road next to a petrol station in 
constant use. No special circumstances exist to outweigh the harm.” 

 
10.2 It is important to note that the major objection submitted by the Parish Council is 

to remain, despite further information, by way of the recently allowed appeal 
decision on the site, to support the application being supplied by the applicant in 
an effort to downgrade the major objection. 
 

11 Analysis 
 

11.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways and parking considerations 
5. Other Considerations 

 
1. Principle of the development 
 

11.2 The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt as defined by Local Plan 
Policy GBSP1. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green 
Belts are their openness and their permanence.  
 

11.3 Paragraph 147 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances. Paragraph 148 states that substantial weight should be 
given to any harm in the Green Belt and that “very special circumstances” will not 

Page 7



exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, 
and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. Policy 
SADM34 of the Council’s Emerging Local Plan (2016), which echoes Green Belt 
policy in the NPPF, is also applicable. 

 
11.4 With regards to appropriateness, paragraph 149 of the NPPF states that a Local 

Planning Authority should regard the construction of new buildings as 
inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this include Paragraph 149 e) 
limited infilling in villages. 
 

11.5 Regard is had to the appeal decision relating to the application of 
6/2021/0237/OUTLINE as detailed earlier within the report. This application is 
similar to that of 6/2021/0237/OUTLINE due to the same application site/ site 
area, however, this current application proposes two dwellings. Notwithstanding 
the fact that the proposal is for two dwellings, the assessment made by the 
Inspector on the appeal of 6/2021/0237/OUTLINE is very relevant, where it was 
found that the proposed development was not inappropriate development within 
the Metropolitan Green Belt and thus the site was not assessed as a windfall site. 
 

11.6 As assessed by the Inspector, the proposal still falls within the definition of 
‘limited’, with the proposed development involving the erection of two dwellings. 
 

11.7 Bell Bar has been found to be a village by the Inspector. 
 

11.8 Furthermore, the Inspector also states that ‘the proposed dwelling would be 
located within a continuous built-up frontage, which would be contained within 
the village envelope and not extend the built form into open countryside and 
would not result in the loss of a view or vista which makes a significant 
contribution to the character of the settlement. Thus, having already judged the 
appeal site to fall within the extent of Bell Bar, which is a village, the proposed 
development would constitute limited infilling.’ this is also the case for this current 
application. 
 

11.9 The proposal therefore accords with the exception under paragraph 149 e) of the 
NPPF and is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt. There is no 
requirement to consider the impacts on openness or the purposes of the Green 
Belt as this is implicitly taken into account within this exception. 

 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 

 
11.10 The submitted planning statement states that the proposed dwellings would be of 

a bungalow design. Whilst there are no further elevations or plans submitted to 
demonstrate the design of the proposed dwelling as all matters are reserved, in 
the event that planning permission was recommended for approval it would be 
considered that the principle of  bungalows would be an appropriate design for 
this location as it would be in keeping with the prevailing character of dwellings in 
the area. 
 

11.11 Full consideration would be given to the design and character, and the living 
conditions of future occupiers in the event of an approval of permission and 
following the submission of reserved matters relating to appearance, layout and 
scale. 
 
 

Page 8



3. Residential amenity  

11.12 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

11.13 As only outline permission is sought, with all matters reserved, and only an 
indicative site plan of the location of the proposed dwelling has been provided, it 
is not possible to fully assess the impact of the proposal on the amenities of the 
adjoining dwellings.  
 

11.14 Full consideration would be given to neighbouring amenity in the event of an 
approval of permission and following the submission of reserved matters relating 
to appearance, layout and scale. 

 
4. Highways and parking considerations 

 
11.15 The application is for outline permission for all matters reserved, therefore the 

access and parking would be addressed under reserved matters in the event of 
the application being recommended for approval.  
 

11.16 It is noted in the submitted planning statement that there is already a vehicular 
access at the site which could be utilised, however the submitted site location 
implies that this access lies outside of the application site. 
 
5. Other considerations  

 
11.17 The application is for outline permission for all matters reserved, therefore all 

other considerations would be addressed under a reserved matters application in 
the event of the application being recommended for approval. 

 
12 Conclusion 
 
12.1 The erection of two detached dwellings (bungalow design), with all matters 

reserved, is considered to be acceptable. 
 

12.2 Subject to conditions, the principle of development is considered acceptable. 
Accordingly, and for the reasons given, the proposal is recommended for 
approval. 

 
13 Recommendation   
 
13.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the following 

conditions: 
 

1. Details of the appearance, means of access, landscaping, layout, and scale, 
(hereinafter called, the reserved matters) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any development begins and 
the development shall be carried out as approved. 
 
REASON: The outline application as submitted does not give particulars 
sufficient for consideration of these reserved matters. 
 

Page 9



2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
REASON: In order to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act (As amended). 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved. 
 
REASON: In order to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act (As amended). 

 
 DRAWING NUMBERS 
 

1. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 

 
Plan 

Number 

Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

51659_02 A Topographic Survey 25 August 2021 

L001 B Revised Planting Plan 11 July 2022 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and details. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

 
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 
 
INFORMATIVES 

 
1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under 

any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any 
permission required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, 
must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health 
and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does 
this permission negate or override any private covenants or legal interest 
(easements or wayleaves) which may affect the land. 

 
Ashley Ransome (Development Management) 
Date:  5th August 2022

Page 10



 

  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Ashley Ransome 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(Welham Green and South Hatfield) 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2022
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING)  

6/2022/0061/FULL 

4 STRAWBERRY FIELD, HATFIELD, AL10 8LS 

CHANGE OF USE FROM A RESIDENTIAL DWELLING (USE CLASS C3(A)) TO 
RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME TO ACCOMMODATE 3 X CHILDREN (USE CLASS C2) 

APPLICANT: DR MULENGA CHANDA 

1 Site Description 

1.1 The site is occupied by a two-storey detached dwelling which is sited within 
Strawberry Field, a cul-de-sac of seven dwellings. Strawberry Field is located 
within a residential area on the southern edge of Hatfield. 

2 The Proposal 

2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the change of use of a C3 
residential dwelling to a C2 residential care home.  

2.2 The property would become a long-term home, providing 24-hour care, for up to 
three vulnerable children (ages 8-16 years old) that have been taken into care 
permanently.  

2.3 The children will have learning difficulties and would attend local day centres and 
specialist schools.  

2.4 The staff will comprise seven full time staff and two part time staff. Each child will 
have a staff member attending to them during the day. None of the staff will 
reside at the property, but one staff member will stay over-night, each night, as a 
waking night. 

2.5 It should be noted that a similar recent proposal was granted planning permission 
by the Development Management Committee. This was application reference 
6/2021/3402/FULL at 2 Mulberry Mead, Hatfield. 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration 

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because it has been called-in by Councillor Zukowskyj and Hatfield Town Council 
have submitted a Major Objection. 

4 Relevant Planning History 

4.1 Application Number: S6/1984/0193/ 
Decision: Granted 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



Decision Date: 11/05/1984 
Proposal: First floor side extension 

 
5 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 

6 Site Designation  
 

6.1 The site lies within the town of Hatfield as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005. 
 

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and a 
site notice. In total six representations have been received, comprising six 
objections. All representations received are published in full on the Council’s 
website and are summarised below: 
 
Objections 
 

 Restrictive covenants- the application provides insufficient evidence to 
disregard the covenant and grant a change of use.  

 There is no evidence provided to show what the target group is, for example 
age of children or their specific needs. There is no evidence that the 
application is supported by Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) Children’s 
Services, or that the applicant has experience in providing other care homes.  

 Due to the lack of detail in the application it is not clear if the care home would 
propose to look after children with physical disabilities. The house does not 
include appropriate access. 

 There is insufficient information to show how the property is appropriate for a 
change of use to a children's care home accommodating up to four children 
plus four full time and two part time staff, providing 24/7 care.  

 The application states that there are four parking spaces existing at the 
property. This is currently incorrect. 

 The application specifies four full-time and two part time employees totalling 
six full time staff, which does not tally 

 The application states that the site is not visible from the public road. This is 
incorrect. 

Page 14



 Whilst it is acknowledged that there is need for provision of care for look-after 
children, there is no evidence given in the application of specific need in this 
area nor of the authority under which this proposed home would be run and 
regulated. 

 Strawberry Field were self-built in 1979/80. Paragraph 8 of the Second 
Schedule of the Conveyance reads: “It is hereby agreed and declared… 
Clause 8. NOT to use the property for any purpose other than for seven 
single private dwelling houses each for the occupation of one family only. 

 our neighbourhood were all of the same opinion that a change of class was 
not in the best interests of our close.  

 Section 25 requires the applicant to declare that “21 days before the date of 
this application nobody except myself/the applicant was the owner of any part 
of the land or building to which the application relates”. This application is 
dated 10th January 2022 yet Section 6 states that the last use as a family 
home, which is also the date on which the previous owners moved out and 
completion of the sale was made, was 22nd December 2021. Hence, the 
applicant was not the certified owner of the property 21 days before the date 
of the application, which therefore makes this application invalid. 

 The proposal suggests a care home for four children, four full time staff and 2 
part time staff. The children will require 24/7 care which would mean the staff 
would be living in the property as well. The number of rooms makes it 
impossible to accommodate everybody that is suggested to be occupying the 
property. One of the rooms is only 2.98 m x 2.70 m squared which is not big 
enough to be classified as suitable for the children. 

 
Support 
 

 None 
 
8 Consultations Received 

 
8.1 The following have responded advising that they have objections to the proposal: 

 
8.2 Councillor Paul Zukowskyj – Objection summarised as follows: 

 I'd like to call in this application as almost all the local residents have been 
in touch expressing concerns over the application and it also seems to raise 
sensitive planning issues. 

 
8.3 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 

proposal in principle, subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 

 WHBC Client Services 

 Hertfordshire Constabulary 

 Children’s Services, HCC 
 
8.4 No response was received from the following consultees: 

 HCC Rights of Way 

 The Ramblers’ Association 
 
 
 

Page 15



9 Town/Parish Council Representations 
 

9.1 Hatfield Town Council have raised a major objection to the proposed 
development for the reasons set out below: 
 

“In light of all the objections we support Cllr Zukowskyj in calling this 
application in. There are only 4 bedrooms and so how can 4 children and 
night staff have space to sleep. Also parking issues have been highlighted 
by many of the residents in the close. Major objection as the plan has not 
been fully developed.” 

 
10 Analysis 

 
10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 

application are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity 
4. Future occupants living standards 
5. Highways and parking considerations 
6. Refuse and recycling  
7. Other considerations  

i) Response to any outstanding neighbour concerns 
 

1. Principle of the development 
 
i) Loss of Residential 
 

10.2 As outlined in the proposal section above, the application will involve the change 
of use of a family residential unit (C3) to a children’s home (C2), which to some 
degree would trigger the loss of a dwelling. Policy H3 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 is therefore partly relevant.  
 

10.3 Policy H3 outlines that “Planning permission will not be granted for the 
redevelopment or change of use of premises which would result in a net 
reduction in the number of dwellings in the district”. 
 

10.4 Policy SADM9 of the Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2016 is similar to the above. 
 

10.5 Notwithstanding reference to the above, it is considered that as the proposed 
development will provide a children’s home, this would still form a residential use 
and therefore it is considered that there would not be a loss of residential 
accommodation. 
 
ii) Special Needs Housing 

 
10.6 Regard should also be had to Policy H9 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 

for Special Needs Housing. 
 

10.7 Policy H9 sets out that “The Council will grant permission for schemes which 
provide special needs accommodation particularly in town centres or in areas 
which are close to community facilities and services. Incorporation of special 

Page 16



needs housing schemes in residential development in central areas will be 
encouraged”. In particular, Policy H9 refers to young people at risk. 
 

10.8 Similarly, within the Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2016, Policy SP7 sets out the 
type and mix of housing to be delivered, which includes specialist housing. 
Specialist housing comprises a mix of people who require to live in an 
environment providing care, including vulnerable people. 
 

10.9 As such, it is considered that the proposal of a children’s home would provide 
young people at risk/ vulnerable people a safe place to reside, which is 
considered to meet with Policy H9 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and 
Policy SP7 of the Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2016 
 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 

 
10.10 No external changes are proposed. The character and appearance of the 

existing property would therefore not be altered and thus no assessment is 
required in this regard. 

3. Residential amenity  

10.11 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

10.12 The impact of the proposed development on the residential amenity of 
neighbouring dwellings is considered in terms of the impact on neighbouring 
properties access to day/sun/sky light, privacy, overbearing and overshadowing.  
 

10.13 Policies D1 and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development 
would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in 
terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution. 
 

10.14 As there are no external alterations proposed, it is considered that the proposed 
change of use to a children’s home would not give rise to material adverse 
impact on the occupiers of adjoining or surrounding properties by reason of loss 
of light, privacy, overshadowing, overlooking or overbearing impact. 
 

10.15 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed development may increase the 
number of occupants and comings and goings from the site, it should be noted 
that the proposed number of occupants is no different to a large family and the 
use as a children’s home is still in residential use. Therefore, it is considered that 
there would not be significant detrimental impacts upon neighbouring amenity so 
as to warrant the refusal of this application. 

 
4. Future occupants living standards 

 
10.16 All proposals for residential use should meet, as a minimum, the National 

Described Space Standard, unless it can be robustly demonstrated that this 
would not be feasible or viable. As such, in considering the quality of 
accommodation provided for future occupants, the National Technical Housing 
Standard, is a material consideration.  
 

Page 17



10.17 From observing the submitted sales particulars floor plans, which include the 
dimensions of each room, it is considered that all bedrooms within the property 
meet the National Technical Housing Standard, and as such, future occupants 
will have sufficient internal living space. 
 

10.18 Policies H4 and D1 of the District Plan and the Supplementary Design Guidance 
requires all residential development to incorporate private amenity space for the 
use of residents. The Council does not apply rigid standard sizes but space 
should be functional and usable in terms of its orientation, width, depth and 
shape.  
 

10.19 The property benefits from a garden to the rear which is considered to be 
commensurate to the size of the dwelling.  

 
5. Highways and parking considerations 

 
10.20 In terms of parking, paragraph 105 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking 

standards, authorities should take into account the accessibility of the 
development, the type, mix and use of the development, availability of public 
transport, local car ownership levels and the overall need to reduce the use of 
high emission vehicles.  
 

10.21 Policy M14 of the District Plan 2005 and the Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards and are not consistent with 
the NPPF and are therefore afforded less weight. In light of the above, the 
Council have produced an interim Policy for Car Parking Standards that states 
that parking provision will be assessed on a case by case basis and the existing 
maximum parking standards within the SPG should be taken as guidance only. 
This means that higher or lower car parking standards than those set out in the 
SPG can be proposed and determined on a case by case basis taking into 
account the relevant circumstances of the proposal, its size context and its wider 
surroundings.  
 

10.22 Parking standards should only be imposed where there is clear and compelling 
justification that they are necessary for managing the local road network.  
 

10.23 The site currently benefits from a large driveway and a single garage, 
accommodating approximately three off street parking spaces. 
 

10.24 The Council’s parking guidance SPG recommends that for a C2 use with care 
staff on premises at all times one space per five residents’ bed spaces are 
provided, plus one space per two staff. 
 

10.25 With reference to the above it is therefore considered that with the three children 
to be cared for by three carers at any one time, the three off-street parking 
spaces provided within the site are therefore considered suitable. A condition will 
be imposed upon any grant of permission for the garage to remain to house 
motor vehicles, in order to retain sufficient off-street parking. 
 

10.26 With respect to the concern regarding visitors parking, as with any residential 
use, there would be the potential for visitors to visit a property. Concerns were 
also raised with regards to the increased number of visitors associated with the 
proposed use, however this is not known, and it could be that there would be the 
same or less number of visitors than a C3 dwelling use. 

Page 18



 
10.27 Notwithstanding the above, it is considered that the parking arrangements for the 

residents and staff, along with any visitors, would be acceptable. 
 
10.28 The site is located in walking distance (10 minutes) to the amenities that were 

existing/ are currently undergoing refurbishment at High View Neighbourhood 
Centre. 
 

10.29 There are numerous bus stops located on roads surrounding Strawberry Field, 
with the closest being along Bishops Rise which is an approximate 10-minute 
walk. This provides access to amenities that are further afield such as Hatfield 
Town Centre which is approximately a 15-minute bus ride away.  

 
10.30 In summary, the proposal would provide an acceptable level of on-site car 

parking and the site is in a sustainable location in walking distance to local 
amenities and sited in close proximity to bus stops, therefore no objections are 
raised in regard to Policy M14 of the District Plan; the SPG Parking Standards; 
the Council’s Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards; and the NPPF. 

6. Refuse and recycling  
 

10.31 With the site still being in residential use, there would be no change to the 
existing waste storage and collection from that of the existing C3 residential use. 
 
7. Other considerations  

 
i) Response to any outstanding neighbour concerns 
 

10.32 It is acknowledged that there appears to be a covenant on the dwellings within 
Strawberry Field which restricts the use of the seven single private dwelling 
houses each for the occupation of one family only. 
 

10.33 Whilst the above is noted, this is a civil matter between the landowner and the 
applicant and therefore would not  be a material planning consideration which 
could be taken into account to DLrestrict the grant of planning permission in the 
event of a recommendation for approval. The planning system is only concerned 
with the principle of development – it determines whether development is 
acceptable in relation to national and local development policies. The Council’s 
decision to grant planning permission does not invalidate or override rights that 
residents have as landowners. Planning permission does not confer any legal 
rights to the applicant for access or ownership that do not otherwise exist. 
 

10.34 Another concern raised was with respect to Section 25 of the application form 
which requires the applicant to declare that “21 days before the date of this 
application nobody except myself/the applicant was the owner of any part of the 
land or building to which the application relates”.  
 

10.35 The Council refers to the submitted application form which provides a date that 
meets the 21-day period. The application form has been signed by the agent to 
declare that all information submitted is correct and therefore the Council has no 
other evidence to suggest overwise. 
 

10.36 Neighbour representations considered that insufficient information had been 
provided to support the application. Subsequently, during the course of the 

Page 19



application, an updated planning statement was submitted, providing further 
information on the proposal. 
 

10.37 The details submitted with the applicantion state that there would be no more 
than 3 children would reside on the premises and their ages would range from 3 
to 16 years.  

 
11 Conclusion 
 
11.1 The proposed change of use from C3 dwelling to C2 children’s home is 

considered to be acceptable. 
 

11.2 Subject to conditions, the proposal would have no significant adverse impact 
upon the character and appearance of the area or the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. The proposal has also been found acceptable in relation to impact on 
the highway, parking and other material considerations. Accordingly, and for the 
reasons given, the proposal is recommended for approval. 

 
12 Recommendation   
 
12.1 It is recommended that planning permission be approved subject to the following 

conditions: 
 

1. The garage shall be kept available for the parking of motor vehicles at all times and shall 
not be converted to living accommodation.  The garage shall be used solely for the 
benefit of the occupants of the building of which it forms part and their visitors and for no 
other purpose and permanently retained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  To ensure the retention of adequate car parking provision to serve the 
development and to prevent environmental problems caused by over-intensive 
occupation of the building and in the interests of highway safety in accordance with the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, the Council’s Emerging Local Plan 2016, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. A staff member must be present at all times whilst the building is occupied and being 
used as a care home. This is to ensure that potential issues related to antisocial 
behaviour and the playing of amplified music can be monitored and managed to ensure 
a noise nuisance does not occur. 
 
REASON:  To protect the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers in accordance with 
Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005. 

 
DRAWING NUMBERS 

 
3. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in accordance 

with the approved plans and details: 
  

Plan 

Number 

Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

LP  Location Plan 27 January 2022 

BP  Block Plan 27 January 2022 

 

Page 20



REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans and details. 
 

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
 
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and appropriate, 
the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
material planning considerations do not justify a decision contrary to the development 
plan. 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 

legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission required 
under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained from the 
relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 
 

2. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build upon 
or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant. 

  
 
Ashley Ransome (Development Management) 
Date: 3rd August 2022

Page 21



 

 

 

 
 

Page 22



Part I 
Main author: Emily Stainer 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(Ward: Northaw and Cuffley) 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 

6/2021/2754/FULL 

22A CHURCH LANE NORTHAW POTTERS BAR EN6 4NX 

ERECTION OF A 5-BEDROOM DETACHED DWELLING 

APPLICANT: MR M SMEATON  

1 Site Description 

1.1 The application site is a vacant piece of land on the east side of Church Lane in 
Northaw. The site was formerly part of the residential land associated with 22 
Church Lane. 22 Church Lane has since been subdivided and the application site 
was sold as a separate parcel of land which is now described as 22A Church 
Lane. The land is located to the south of 22 Church Lane.  

1.2 The application plot comprises land which is still residential in appearance and 
features a mixture of soft landscaping and hard surfacing. The topography of the 
site slopes downwards towards the south and the east and the site currently 
benefits from a raised terrace/patio area with steps to accommodate the changes 
in land levels. An established boundary hedge separates the frontage of the site 
from Church Lane. A temporary fence has also been erected recently between 
the application site and 22 Church Lane which demarcates the new boundary 
between the sites.  

1.3 To the north, west and south of the site are residential plots forming 21, 22, 26 
and 28 Church Lane. The sizes of these plots vary in size and shape, with No.28 
being accessible via a private driveway which is adjacent to the southern 
boundary of the application site. No.22 and No.26 have frontages which face 
onto Church Lane. No.21 is set much further back into the site in comparison and 
has its private garden positioned to the front, closer to Church Lane. The rear of 
the application site backs onto part of the residential land associated with 22 
Church Lane, which wraps around the application site. Beyond this part of the 
neighbours garden lies Northaw Playing Fields with a recreational ground and a 
tennis court.  

2 The Proposal 

2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a detached 
dwelling and associated vehicular access. The proposed dwelling would 
effectively infill the gap between the existing line of built form that has been 
established by the dwellings at 22 and 26 Church Lane. The driveway which 
currently leads to 28 Church Lane would remain as it is. The new dwelling would 
benefit from a driveway accessed via a new crossover from Church Lane. It 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



would provide off-street parking spaces for at least 3 vehicles and a storage area 
for bins. Cycle parking spaces would also be provided in a secure storage facility 
in the rear garden.   
 

2.2 This application follows the refusal of application reference 6/2021/0314/FULL on 
14th June 2021 for the erection of a 5 bedroom detached house. The application 
was refused for the following reason: 
 
“Inadequate information has been submitted to ensure that the proposed 
development would allow a safe and suitable means of access to the proposed 
dwelling. It is therefore judged that the proposed development fails to 
demonstrate that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
users contrary to Policies D1 and D5 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; 
Policy SADM2 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016; and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.” 
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
 

3.1 Application Number: 6/2020/2989/FULL 
Decision: Withdrawn 
Decision Date: Withdrawn on 22 January 2021 
Proposal: Erection of detached five-bedroom dwellinghouse on land adjacent to 
no.22 Church Lane to include associated hard and soft landscaping, proposed 
vehicle crossover and ground floor rear terrace 
 

3.2 Application Number: 6/2021/0314/FULL 
Decision: Refused 
Decision Date: 14 June 2021 
Proposal: Erection of a 5 bedroom detached house 

 
4 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
4.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
4.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan) 
 
4.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
4.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
4.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 

5 Site Designation  
 

5.1 The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt, an Area of Archaeological 
Significance, a Landscape Character Area (Northaw Common Parkland) and the 
Village of Northaw as designated in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan. 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



6 Representations Received  
 

6.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and 
site notices. Objections have been received from 10 properties. All 
representations received are published in full on the Council’s website and are 
summarised below: 
 
Objections 
 

 There are misrepresentations in the submitted information including land 
ownership, the size of the site, inaccurate boundaries, incorrect address on 
the original application form (22 Church Lane instead of 22A) and the 
original description which included reference to the demolition of an existing 
detached dwelling.  

 The neighbours were not consulted prior to the submission of the 
application. 

 The use of the existing land is vacant and not residential as there is no 
residential property on the land. 

 Northaw has a limited number of resources (e.g. church, hall) without any 
shops meaning the proposed development is limited in terms of access to 
services and facilities by means other than the private motor car.  

 The site is not infill development in the Green Belt and is new development 
within the Green Belt which will compromise openness.   

 There would be a loss of natural vegetation screening which will alter the 
nature of the site and increase its visual impact in a Green Belt setting.  

 A five bedroom dwelling would result in overdevelopment of the site.  

 The proposed house would be cramped and would not be commensurate 
with the size of the narrow plot.  

 The dwelling design would be out of character with the streetscape on 
Church Lane. 

 The distance of 1 metre to the boundary would not be typical of others in the 
area. 

 The bedroom would be a three storey dwelling, not two storey.  

 The existing side windows of 22 Church Lane are not all obscure glazed and 
secondary.  

 There are highway safety concerns due to the restricted width of the 
carriageway on Church Lane, a blind bend, an unsafe vehicular access and 
insufficient space to adequately manoeuvre in and out of the proposed 
parking spaces.  

 It remains impossible for all vehicles to exit the driveway without reversing 
uphill onto the lane and obscured driver visibility. 

 There are optimistic assumptions and misrepresentations in the submitted 
transport note including those related to visibility, the reference point for 
visual field and the movement of vehicles in and out of the property and their 
orientation.  

 Regard has not been given to pedestrian safety and other vulnerable road 
users due to the existing lack of footways and reduced visibility.  

 There would be additional parking pressures on an already congested road.  

 There would be increased traffic levels.  

 There are no safe cycling routes in and out of the village.  

 Emergency services may experience difficulties obtaining access to the 
dwelling.  

Page 25



 There would be disruption during construction from deliveries, vehicles 
parking on the road and noise.   

 A viable traffic management plan is unlikely to be achieved. 

 Loss of light and overshadowing. 

 Loss of privacy and increased overlooking. 

 Overbearing impact. 

 Loss of soft landscaping including the removal of hedges and flora.  

 A failure to address the natural watercourse, drainage issues and flooding.  
 

7 Consultations Received 
 

7.1 The following consultees have responded advising that they have no objections 
to the proposal in principle, some of which would be subject to conditions or 
informatives being applied: 
 

 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy 

 HCC Historic Environment Advisor 

 Hertfordshire Ecology 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 

 WHBC Client Services 

 WHBC Landscape and Ecology  
 
8 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
8.1 Northaw and Cuffley Parish Council initially raised a major objection to the 

proposed development on the 27th October 2021 for the reasons set out below: 
 
“The Parish Council are submitting a major objection on the basis that access 
arrangements and car parking are unrealistic for the size of the development, the 
application is out of character within the area. The Parish Council consider the 
application to be overdevelopment of the current plot and would urge officers to 
consider that the area within the application is at the time of application not under 
the sole ownership of the applicant.” 

 
8.2 Following a re-consultation exercise regarding the amended information to alter 

the parking layout which was submitted on 1st August 2022 and the submission 
of a revised Transport Note (dated 26/07/2022), Northaw and Cuffley Parish 
Council confirmed on 5 August 2022 the major objection should be reinstated for 
the reasons set out below: 

“The Council reviewed the amendments made to the application and wish to 
reconfirm their wish to submit a Major Objection on the basis that they remain 
concerned about access arrangements for emergency, refuse and delivery 
vehicles. Councillors would like to see a viable traffic management plan for the 

proposed site.” 

9 Analysis 
 

9.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area  
3. Residential amenity  

Page 26



4. Access, car parking and highways considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Ecology and biodiversity  
ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
iii) Archaeology 
iv) Refuse and recycling  
v) Landscaping 
vi) Other matters 

6. The planning balance  
 

1. Principle of the development 
 

9.2 District Plan Policy SD1 states that development will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that the principles of sustainable development are satisfied and 
that they will accord with the objectives and policies of the District Plan. Policy R1 
states that in order to make the best use of land in the district, the Council will 
require development to take place on land which has been previously used or 
developed. These objectives are consistent with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) which supports the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings (paragraph 120) and the efficient use of land (paragraph 124).  

9.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) encourages the provision of 
more housing and states that applications should be considered in the context of 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

9.4 The site has not been allocated in the District Plan for additional housing supply 
and as such comes forward as a windfall residential site where Policy H2 applies. 
This policy states that all applications for windfall residential development will be 
assessed for potential and suitability against the following criteria: 

i. The availability of previously-developed sites and/or buildings; 
ii. The location and accessibility of the site to services and facilities by 

transport modes other than the car; 
iii. The capacity of existing and potential infrastructure to absorb further 

development; 
iv. The ability to build new communities to support infrastructure and provide 

demand for services and facilities; and 
v. The physical and environmental constraints on development of land. 

 
9.5 Policy SADM1 of the Emerging Local Plan is also relevant in regards to windfall 

housing development. This policy is similar to Policy H2 of the District Plan but 
adds that the proposal should not undermine the delivery of allocated sites or the 
overall strategy of the Plan; and proposals would not result in disproportionate 
growth taking into account the position of a settlement within the settlement 
hierarchy. 

9.6 The application site initially formed part of the residential land associated with 22 
Church Lane which has now been subdivided into two plots. Gardens in built-up 
areas are not classed as previously developed land, having lower priority for 
development, but that does not mean they cannot be built on in any 
circumstances. Although gardens are not a priority for development, the need to 
make efficient use of land remains a policy objective. 

9.7 Due to the application site being located in an established residential area, there 
is no reason to believe that the existing infrastructure would not be able to absorb 

Page 27



the development for a single dwelling. There would also be a benefit (albeit very 
limited) on nearby services and facilities as the new dwelling has the potential to 
support and provide demand for nearby services and facilities. 

9.8 In terms of accessibility, the site is located in Northaw village centre. Northaw 
has only limited services including a pub, restaurant, church, primary school, 
nursery and a village hall. As a result, future occupiers of the development would 
be unable to access the majority of their day-to-day service requirements from 
the village. Potters Bar and Cuffley are both located approximately 3km away 
from the site, both of which provide a wide range of facilities and services as well 
as education and employment opportunities and a railway station. Whilst there 
are some pedestrian walkways between the site and Cuffley and Potters Bar, 
street lighting is infrequent and the journeys would involve some roads (including 
Church Lane itself) without a footpath. It is thus considered the routes are less 
likely to be used by pedestrians or cyclists due to the distances involved and 
especially considered together with inclement weather and darkness at night. 

9.9 Paragraph 105 of the NPPF acknowledges that opportunities to maximise 
sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas and this 
should be taken into account. In this regard it is important to note that there are 
bus stops on Northaw Road West which provide links to Potters Bar and Cuffley. 
As a consequence future occupiers would have access to some public transport 
options and would not have to be solely reliant on a private car. However, given 
the distances involved and the limited bus services from these stops, it is still 
considered highly likely that future occupiers would be primarily reliant on the use 
of a car to access day to day facilities and services. 

9.10 It is therefore acknowledged that there would be a degree of conflict with Policies 
SD1 and H2. However, a realistic approach is necessary where sites are in rural 
areas and where residents are generally more likely to be reliant upon private 
transport to travel to work, shops or services. This is discussed in more detail 
later in this report.  

9.11 The physical and environmental constraints of the development of the land in the 
manner proposed are assessed within the section below. 

Green Belt 

 

9.12 The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt as defined by District Plan 
Policy GBSP1. The NPPF identifies that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy 
is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Paragraph 147 of 
the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the 
Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
Paragraph 148 states that local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt and very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason 
of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

 
9.13 Within that context the main issues to consider in terms of Green Belt policy are:  
 

 the appropriateness of the development in Green Belt; 

 the effect on the openness and purposes of the Green Belt; and  

Page 28



 whether the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to the very 
special circumstances necessary to justify the development. 

 
Appropriateness 
 

9.14 Paragraph 149 of the NPPF outlines that a Local Planning Authority (LPA) should 
regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt, 
unless they meet specific exceptions. Paragraph 149(e) of the NPPF states that 
new buildings are not inappropriate if they are considered to constitute the limited 
infilling of a village. The NPPF does not provide any guidance as to what 
constitutes a village or what constitutes limited infilling. 

9.15 Northaw is defined as a ‘Rural Village’ in the District Plan. It is also identified as a 
‘Green Belt village’ within the settlement hierarchy of Emerging Policy SP3. In 
addition, this policy states that further development of these settlements should 
be considered against other Green Belt policies to assess the acceptability of the 
proposed development.  

9.16 Emerging Policy SADM34 covers all forms of development within the Green Belt. 
As a consequence of the nature of the proposed development it is considered 
that the proposal should be considered against the requirements and restrictions 
of infill development. Policy SADM34 states as follows: 
 
Limited infill development will be permitted in villages within the Green Belt 
provided: 

  
i. It is within a continuous built up frontage 
ii. It does not extend the existing ‘built up’ area of the village into the open 

countryside; 
iii. It would not result in the loss of a view or vista which makes a significant 

contribution to the character of the settlement; and 
iv. It is small scale and would not result in the provision of more than four 

dwellings (net) 
 
9.17 Church Lane is a residential road with properties on both sides of the highway. It 

can be accessed off Vineyards Road which is one of the main routes in and out 
of Northaw. Church Lane has a sharp bend in it which re-routes the road towards 
the south to where it meets its second access point off Northaw Road West 
(B156). The houses on Church Lane have not been built in a uniform manner as 
there are variations in plot size, the scale of the dwellings and their architectural 
style. However, whilst the properties on the road diverge in design, the majority of 
the houses are oriented with their principal elevation and frontages facing the 
road and are set back from the public highway. The proposed dwelling would 
replicate this arrangement and would maintain a similar building line at the front 
to the dwellings either side of it (22 Church Lane and 26 Church Lane). The 
positioning of the new dwelling would not disrupt the existing pattern of 
development on the east side of Church Lane and as such it would be located 
within a continuous built up frontage.  

 
9.18 The application site was formerly residential land associated with 22 Church 

Lane and is bound to the north, west and south by other residential development. 
The presence of a community play area, recreation ground and tennis court to 
the east of the site additionally creates the perception that these elements form 
an extension to an existing part of the village. As a result it is not considered the 

Page 29



proposed dwelling would extend the existing ‘built up’ area of the village into the 
open countryside.  

 
9.19 Whilst the dwelling would infill a space in the road which would prevent views 

being obtained of the recreation ground to the rear and the wider countryside 
beyond, in the context of the existing properties on the east side of Church Lane 
this is not considered to result in a loss of a view or vista which makes a 
significant contribution to the character of Northaw. 

 
9.20 The proposed development would consist of a single detached dwelling, which 

would not provide more than four dwellings.  
 
9.21 For the above reasons, it is judged that the proposed dwelling would constitute 

limited infilling development within an existing village, therefore it is deemed 
appropriate development in the Green Belt.  
 
Openness and Purposes of Including Land in the Green Belt 

 
9.22 The Courts have held that appropriate development is not harmful to Green Belt 

openness or the purposes of including land within it. Consequently no discussion 
of this has been made in respect of the new dwelling. 

 
Conclusion on the Green Belt 

 
9.23 Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal would fall within 

the limitations of paragraph 149(e) of the NPPF and SADM34 of the Council’s 
Emerging Local Plan and is not inappropriate development within the Green Belt.  
It is therefore not necessary to demonstrate very special circumstances to justify 
the development. 

 
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 

 
9.24 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 aim to secure a high quality of design and 

ensure that development respects and relates to the character and context of the 
locality, maintaining and where possible enhancing the character of the existing 
area. These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG) which requires the impact of a development to be assessed 
giving regard to the bulk, scale and design of the proposal and how it harmonises 
with the existing building and area. These objectives are broadly consistent with 
the Council’s Emerging Local Plan and the aims of the NPPF. 
 

9.25 Church Lane is a residential road. A small part of the road lies within the Northaw 
Conservation Area. However, the application site falls outside of the part of the 
road which is designated within the Conservation Area. The road is varied in 
character due to the differences in plot size, dwelling size and architectural finish. 
There are also a mixture of semi-detached and detached dwellings.  

 
9.26 Some of the plots on the road are irregular in shape and others are more linear 

and narrow in form. The east side of the road where the proposed dwelling would 
be located has a pattern which is generally formed of detached dwellings within 
plots of various sizes. The property and residential land to which the application 
site originally belonged to (22 Church Lane) was one of the largest plots on the 
road before it was subdivided. Due to the different land levels on the road and 

Page 30



variation in architectural styles and designs, the building heights fluctuate, but all 
respect the sloped nature of the road. 

 
9.27 The proposed dwelling would have two main storeys with additional bedroom 

accommodation in the roof space. The property would extend rearwards into the 
plot which is not dissimilar to the style of other properties in the vicinity which are 
located in narrower plots. The dwelling would be finished with a simple gable 
pitched roof design and a pitched roof front porch. Two porthole style round 
windows would be located on the front and rear elevation of the dwelling, as well 
as three side facing rooflights which would serve the bedroom, landing and en-
suite in the roof space. Due to the differences in land levels, a terrace with steps 
leading to the garden would also be provided at the rear of the property, in a 
similar manner to existing. A secure cycle storage structure would also be 
positioned in the rear garden as well as a bin store on the frontage.  

 
9.28 The Council’s SDG states that a minimum distance of 1m between the flank wall 

of a property and the adjoining flank boundary must be maintained. Although the 
Council’s SDG does not make specific reference to distances between new 
dwellings, it provides an indication that a minimum distance of 1 metre between 
the flank wall of a property and the adjoining side boundary is viewed to be 
acceptable. There are examples on the road of properties that appear to be 
located a similar distance (or less) to the common boundaries between dwellings, 
including the relationship between 6 and 8, 32 and 34 and 35 and 37 Church 
Lane. The spacing distances between the proposed dwelling and the shared 
boundaries with neighbours would therefore accord with the Council’s SDG as 
the dwelling would retain at least a 1m separation distance between the common 
boundary with 22 Church Lane and the boundary which is adjacent to the access 
road to No.28.  
 

9.29 The built development to plot ratio would be acceptable in the absence of a 
uniform style or planned arrangement of the dwellings on Church Lane. The 
proposed detached dwelling would also be comparable in size to the footprint of 
other dwellings along the road and would not appear excessively large or 
undersized.   

 
9.30 The proposed elevations indicate the position of No.22 and the levels of the land 

in order to show the resultant siting of the dwelling in comparison to the 
neighbouring property. Due to the topography of the land on Church Lane, the 
ridge height of the proposed dwelling would sit below the ridgeline of No.22 by 
approximately 500mm. It is considered that the scale of the dwelling would 
maintain and respect the building heights of the immediate neighbouring 
properties. The new dwelling would not project any further forward in the plot 
than the dwellings at 22 or 26 Church Lane on either side. The set back would 
ensure the dwelling does not appear overly prominent in the street scene 
compared to other dwellings nearby.  

 
9.31 The windows and doors would be of a simple design which would be appropriate 

in the street scene. The dwelling would be finished with part brickwork, part 
render and roof tiles. As the submitted information is limited in regards to the 
specific type, manufacturer and colour of the external materials, precise details 
can be secured by way of a planning condition. In principle the use of brickwork 
and render would be acceptable. 

Page 31



9.32 For the above reasons, it is considered that the proposed design, scale, massing 
and layout of the proposed dwelling would respect and relate to the character 
and context of the area. The high quality design of the proposal is such that it 
would be in keeping with the character of the area and the surrounding dwellings 
and would not detract from or be at variance to the local character. The 
development would therefore accord with the aims and objectives of Policies D1 
and D2 of the District Plan 2005, the SDG 2005, SP9 of the Emerging Local Plan 
2016 and the NPPF.       

3. Residential amenity  

9.33 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 
and improve the places in which people live their lives. This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

9.34 Policies D1 and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development 
would adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in 
terms of the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution. SADM11 of 
the Emerging Local Plan is similar in these aims. 

 
Living Conditions of Future Occupiers 

9.35 The proposed dwelling would have a spacious internal layout with reasonably 
sized rooms and would benefit from a large private garden which would be 
functional and useable in size. The positioning of the dwelling, separation 
distances, boundary treatments and use of obscure glazed windows at the side 
at first floor level which would be fixed shut below a certain height would ensure 
that future occupiers would experience acceptable outlook, appropriate levels of 
sunlight and daylight and levels of privacy. The use of obscure glazed and fixed 
windows and rooflights can be secured by planning condition in the interest of 
preserving privacy. This is acceptable as the windows on the sides are either 
serving non-habitable rooms or are secondary windows to habitable rooms. 
Further details of the exact style of the proposed boundary treatments can also 
be secured by way of condition. 

9.36 Policy R19 of the District Plan states that proposals will be refused if the 
development is likely to be affected by unacceptable noise or vibration from other 
land uses. This approach is reflected in Policy SADM18 of the Emerging Local 
Plan. The Council’s Public Health and Protection Officer has been consulted on 
the proposal and has not raised any concerns regarding noise at this site. 
Informatives regarding noise and dust during construction are recommended. 
 

9.37 The proposal would therefore provide satisfactory accommodation for its future 
occupiers. 

 
Amenity of Adjoining Occupiers 
 

9.38 As a consequence of the proposed position and layout of the new dwelling and 
the application site’s relationship with neighbouring properties, it is judged that 
the neighbours which have the potential to be impacted by the proposed 
development are 22 Church Lane to the north, 26 and 28 Church Lane to the 
South and 21 Church Lane to the west.   

Page 32



9.39 The front building line of the proposed house would not project further forward 
than either of the dwellings to the side. To the rear, the back wall of the proposed 
building would project approximately 2.8m further into the garden at first floor 
than the neighbouring property at 22 Church Lane. At ground floor, the existing 
single storey addition at 22 Church Lane would project further than the rear wall 
of the proposed property. Whilst on its own it is not conclusive, a 45 degree angle 
is a commonly used indicator of an acceptable relationship between properties.  
A 45 degree angle has been marked on one of the proposed plans which 
suggests the closest first floor window of No.22 would not intersect with this line. 
The additional built form at first floor which would be created would be visible 
from the rear of the neighbours’ dwelling. Despite this, it would be distanced by a 
sufficient separation distance and would be of a depth which would prevent it 
from appearing unduly dominant, overbearing or resulting in a significant loss of 
light to the rear windows of 22 Church Lane.   
 

9.40 The south facing elevation of No.22 would be located approximately 2m away 
from the flank wall of the proposed dwelling. The existing drawings of No.22 
which were submitted under the previous application and during the initial stages 
of this application demonstrate that the side windows which faced in a southerly 
direction serve either non-habitable spaces (to stairways and bathrooms) or are 
secondary windows to habitable rooms (bedroom 4, lounge and open plan 
living/dining/kitchen area). Further clarification has been sought from the 
applicant’s agent and it is now understood that the ground floor windows on this 
elevation and the side window to bedroom 4 are clear glazed but the larger 
central windows serving the stairs/landing are obscure glazed. The approved 
details and drawings of the original planning consent for the property at No.22 
confirm that all of the side windows facing the south were designed with the 
intention of being secondary windows or for non-habitable rooms. Therefore, 
whilst there would inevitably be some impact to light and outlook in this elevation, 
it is not considered it would be unduly detrimental to the extent to warrant a 
refusal of the application as the main habitable rooms of the property would still 
be afforded a sufficient outlook and amount of light from the existing front and 
rear facing windows/doors.  

 
9.41 The development would not appear overbearing or result in a detrimental loss of 

light to 26 Church Lane by virtue of its orientation and separation distance of 
approximately 7.5m from the flank wall of that dwelling, in addition to the existing 
and proposed boundary treatments. 28 Church Lane would also be distanced by 
an acceptable amount to prevent the new dwelling from appearing over 
dominant. 

 
9.42 The property located to the west of the application site (21 Church Lane) is on 

the opposite side of the road and the dwelling itself is set back some distance 
from the highway. This would result in a significant separation distance between 
the two dwellings which would prevent any direct overlooking to the dwelling from 
occurring from the windows at the new property. Similarly, the significant 
separation distances would prevent the dwelling from appearing unduly 
overbearing or resulting in an unacceptable level of sunlight or daylight.  

 
9.43 In terms of privacy, views from windows within the rear elevation of the dwelling 

would be predominantly to the rear garden of the application site. A boundary 
fence measuring approximately 2m in height is marked on the proposed plans 
and this would help to ensure there is limited overlooking from the raised patio at 
the rear of the property towards 22 Church Lane. It is accepted that the new 

Page 33



dwelling also has the potential to introduce additional levels of overlooking to the 
private garden of No.21 opposite. As there is not a property with a window above 
first floor in this location at present it is difficult to ascertain the exact levels of 
overlooking which may be achieved from this window. However, as the porthole 
style window on the front of the new dwelling would serve a dressing room, this 
can be conditioned to be obscure glazed and fixed in order to avoid direct views 
to the private garden space of No.21. In regards to the other properties nearby, 
due to the proposed obscure glazed side windows on the new dwelling and the 
suggested conditions, the proposal is unlikely to result in a more significant level 
of overlooking to those which can already be achieved from existing 
neighbouring dwellings that surround the site. 
 

9.44 The new dwellinghouse would benefit from permitted development rights. It is 
therefore appropriate to assess what impact further extensions could have on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Paragraph 54 of the NPPF states 
“planning conditions should not be used to restrict national permitted 
development rights unless there is clear justification to do so.”  In this case, given 
the relatively narrow plot size and the close proximity of some of the 
neighbouring properties, further extensions built within permitted development 
would likely impact upon the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, with 
particular regard to overbearing impact, loss of light and loss of 
privacy. Therefore, in order to protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers it 
would be reasonable to impose a planning condition withdrawing permitted 
development rights enabling the Local Planning Authority to retain control over 
the enlargement or alteration of the proposed new dwelling (Class A) and the 
enlargement consisting of an addition or alteration to its roof (Class B and C). 
 

9.45 Overall, it is therefore considered that the proposed development would provide 
reasonable living conditions, for both neighbours and future occupiers. It is not 
considered that the proposal would result in harm that would be detrimental to 
the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers.  

 
4. Access, car parking and highways considerations  
 

9.46 In terms of parking, paragraph 107 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking 
standards, authorities should take into account the accessibility of the 
development, the type, mix and use of the development, availability of and 
opportunities for public transport, local car ownership levels and the overall need 
to reduce the use of high emission vehicles. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF also 
sets out that development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 

9.47 Policy M14 of the District Plan 2005 and the Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG) use maximum standards and are not consistent with 
the NPPF and are therefore afforded less weight. In light of the above, the 
Council have produced an interim Policy for Car Parking Standards that states 
that parking provision will be assessed on a case by case basis and the existing 
maximum parking standards within the SPG should be taken as guidance only. 
This means that higher or lower car parking standards than those set out in the 
SPG can be proposed and determined on a case by case basis taking into 
account the relevant circumstances of the proposal, its size context and its wider 
surroundings.  
 

Page 34



9.48 Church Lane is an unclassified road which provides a local access function in the 
road hierarchy. The vehicle speeds past this site are limited to 30mph. There has 
been one recorded ‘slight’ accident near to the site in the past five years. The 
existing application site does not benefit from a vehicular crossover or a driveway 
and currently features a mature boundary hedge along the frontage with Church 
Lane. There is a lamppost located within the existing hedge.  

 
9.49 The proposal would involve the creation of a new vehicular access from Church 

Lane and a driveway. The existing boundary hedge along the front of the site 
would be removed and replaced with grass in order to improve visibility for 
vehicles exiting the site.  

 
9.50 The previous application for a detached dwelling on this site (reference 

6/2021/0314/FULL) was refused due to concerns raised by the County Highway 
Authority about the proposed access to the dwelling. This was on the basis of 
insufficient information being submitted to ensure the proposed development 
would allow a safe and suitable access for all users. The submitted plans were 
not considered to provide the level of detail required to make an adequate 
assessment and the required information was described as a detailed vehicle 
crossover drawing (drawn to scale) and visibility splays.  

 
9.51 This application is supported with a transport note (dated 26 July 2022) by 

Patrick Parsons and detailed drawings including a tracking diagram. The 
proposed drawings were updated to reflect the details shown within the transport 
note. The Highway Authority have assessed this information and have concluded 
the new access would be of an appropriate size and the swept path analysis on 
the submitted tracking diagram also confirms vehicles would be able to 
adequately access the site to park. It is acknowledged that vehicles may be 
required to enter or leave the site in reverse, but this is viewed to be acceptable 
due to being a minor, unclassified access road. A visibility splay has been 
marked on the drawings and this demonstrates a 2m x 17m sightline to the 
centre of the carriageway looking north and 2m x 29m looking south. The 
Highway Authority have also reviewed this document and suggest that the 
visibility splay to the north which would be entirely within the applicant’s boundary 
is deemed acceptable and would result in visibility which would be as good as, or 
better, than the visibility from several of the existing properties on the road. A 
condition can be imposed in order to ensure the visibility splays are provided in 
accordance with the details indicated on the drawings and retained at all times 
free from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the 
adjacent highway carriageway.  
 

9.52 Due to the narrow width of the carriageway and limited availability for off-site 
parking, the Highway Authority have recommended a condition for further details 
of vehicle access arrangements and movements during construction. This is to 
ensure the impact of vehicles on the local road network is minimised during the 
construction period. The suggested construction management plan would be a 
pre-commencement condition to be submitted prior to any development 
commencing on site. The proposed dwelling would also be within 45m of the 
public highway, therefore no concerns have been raised regarding emergency 
access.  
 

9.53 The street lighting column will need to be repositioned to enable the access to be 
constructed and to ensure the access is fully accessible by vehicles. An 
informative is recommended which advises the applicant of this.  

Page 35



 
9.54 The Council’s parking guidance SPG recommends that 3 parking spaces are 

provided for the proposed development with 5 bedrooms. 3 spaces would be 
provided on the proposed driveway. The rectangular parking spaces would be in 
accordance with the recommended dimensions for off-street parking bays (at 
least 2.4m x 4.8m). A condition can be imposed to ensure the vehicular areas on 
site are surfaced in a manner which is acceptable and that arrangements shall be 
made to ensure surface water from the site would be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so it doesn’t discharge into the highway. As such, the proposal would 
meet the guideline parking standards contained with the SPG.   

 
9.55 In terms of incorporating measures which will encourage sustainable modes of 

travel, in addition to the parking spaces which would be provided, a cycle storage 
building would be located in the rear garden. The building would measure 
approximately 1.7m in height and would be waterproof and secured centrally with 
a British standard mortice lock. It would be finished with cedar cladding and triple 
hinged front opening doors. The cycle store would accommodate at least one 
bicycle for the occupiers of the proposed dwelling. However, it is also 
acknowledged that the property would benefit from a reasonably sized garden 
where other bicycles could be stored if required. An Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging point can also be secured by way of a planning condition in order to 
provide the infrastructure required to support the uptake of ultra-low emission 
vehicles locally.  
 

9.56 In summary, the proposal would provide an acceptable level of on-site car 
parking and cycle parking and therefore no objections are raised in regards to 
Policy M14 of the District Plan; the SPG Parking Standards; the Council’s Interim 
Policy for Car Parking Standards; and the NPPF. 

5. Other considerations  
 

i) Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

9.57 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that the planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and delivering net gains in bio diversity where possible. Paragraph 
180 of the NPPF goes on to listed principles that Local Authorities should apply 
when determining a planning application. It is stated within Paragraph 180(d) of 
the NPPF that “opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments 
should be integrated as part of their design”. 

 
9.58 District Plan Policy R11 seeks to conserve the biodiversity of the borough and 

seek opportunities for enhancement to ensure no net loss of biodiversity. Policies 
SP10 and SADM16 of the Draft Local Plan Submission 2016 are similar in these 
aims. 

 
9.59 Hertfordshire Ecology have been consulted for this application and present no 

objections given the location and character of the site. However, since shrubs 
and hedges will need to be removed to accommodate the new building, a 
precautionary informative has been suggested to protect nesting birds. In 
addition, as the planning system should now aim to deliver overall net gains for 
biodiversity where possible, biodiversity enhancements such as bat/bird/insect 
boxes are recommended. This can be conditioned as part of a condition in the 
event of permission being granted. Subject to the suggested conditions, it is 

Page 36



considered that the proposal satisfies the requirements of the District Plan and 
the NPPF in respect of Ecology. 

 
ii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

9.60 A comment has been raised by a neighbour regarding a failure to address the 
natural watercourse and drainage issues on site. The NPPF deals with issues of 
climate change and flooding and by means of the sequential test seeks to steer 
new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The flood zones 
are the starting point for this approach.  
 

9.61 The Environment Agency identifies Flood Zones 2 & 3 and all land outside those 
zones is in flood Zone 1. This site is located within Flood Zone 1 i.e. a low 
probability of flooding. The location of the proposed dwelling is therefore in an 
area which is not prone to flooding and due to the limited scale of the proposal 
which is for a single dwelling, the impacts on flooding and drainage would be 
limited. Further details regarding the materials of the proposed hard surfacing 
can be secured as part of a planning condition.  
 
iii) Archaeology  

 

9.62 District Plan Policy R29 states that the Council will require developers to 
undertake an archaeological assessment where the proposed development may 
affect remains of archaeological significance, or may be sited in an area of 
archaeological potential.    
 

9.63 The Historic Environment Advisor was consulted on this proposal and has 
confirmed the development is unlikely to have a significant impact on heritage 
assets with archaeological interest. Accordingly, as this proposal is also for a 
single dwelling, it would not unduly impact on archaeology and complies with 
Policy R29.  

 
iv) Refuse and recycling  

 
9.64 The Council’s Client Services team have been consulted on the proposal and 

have confirmed the property could be incorporated on the existing ARRC 
scheme. The proposals for recycling bin storage would also comply with the 
requirement for residents to not have to carry waste more than 30m and be 
within 25m of the kerbside/bin collection point.  

9.65 Furthermore, a bin storage facility would be provided on the proposed driveway 
which would measure approximately 1.2m in height and be finished with cedar 
cladding. This would ensure the bins stored on the frontage would not be 
unsightly in appearance.  

 
v) Landscaping 

 
9.66 District Plan Policy R17 seeks to protect existing trees whilst Policy D8 requires 

landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design, and in this respect the 
high quality design required by Policy D1 would again be relevant. Landscaping 
is important in order to protect and enhance the existing character of the area 
and to reduce the visual and environmental impacts of the development.  
 

9.67 The site is within Northaw Common Parkland Landscape Character Area where 
Policy RA10 applies. The strategy for managing change to this Landscape 

Page 37



Character Area (LCA) is to conserve and strengthen. By virtue of the limited 
scale of the proposed development in an established residential area, it is 
considered that although the proposal would not contribute to the Landscape 
Character Area, it is not considered it would conflict with its aims as it would not 
have an adverse impact upon the LCA. 

 

9.68 Other than the grass at the front of the site and the proposed boundary fence 
elevations, details of hard and soft landscaping are limited at this stage. The 
amended layout on the frontage additionally includes an area which would be 
designated as a ‘landscape zone’. Further information would be required in the 
event of permission being granted to ensure that the materials and planting used 
are acceptable and the details of any other boundary treatments proposed. As a 
consequence, it is considered reasonable and appropriate to impose a condition 
on any approval requiring that a detailed landscaping plan be submitted and 
approved by the Council. 

 
vi) Other matters 

 
9.69 A neighbour comment has referred to the applicant not consulting neighbours 

prior to the application being submitted. Whilst it is recommended that any 
proposals are discussed with neighbours before submitting an application, it 
should be noted that there is no requirement within The Development 
Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) to do so prior to an 
application being received. The adjoining neighbours were notified of the 
development by letter and a site notice was also displayed with a 21 days 
consultation period. It is considered that this notification procedure is in 
accordance with the requirements within Part 3, Article 15 of The Development 
Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended). Further consultations have 
also been issued in order to advise neighbours and interested parties of 
amendments to the proposal. 
 

9.70 Several neighbours have also suggested there are misrepresentations in the 
submitted information including land ownership, the size of the site, inaccurate 
boundaries, an incorrect address on original application form (22 Church Lane 
instead of 22A) and the original description which included reference to the 
demolition of an existing detached dwelling. The application form and site 
address has been amended and various alterations to the submitted plans have 
been undertaken to amend the boundaries to respond to the comments raised. 
However, it is worth noting that land ownership is not a material planning 
consideration and is a civil matter which must be resolved between the relevant 
parties. An informative is recommended which advises the applicant that the 
granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build upon or 
access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant. 

 
6. The planning balance  

9.71 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF outlines that decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and footnote 8 outlines that it includes, 
amongst other things, ‘for applications involving the provision of housing, 
situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in 
paragraph 74).’ 

9.72 The Council does not have a five year housing supply, a position acknowledged 
by the Council in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) and therefore the NPPF at 

Page 38



Paragraph 11 notes the presumption in favour of sustainable development which 
for decision taking means: 
 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 
 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out of date, granting 
permission unless:  
 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significant and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the polices in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
9.73 Furthermore, paragraph 79 outlines that in order to promote sustainable 

development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or 
maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies should identify 
opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support 
local services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in 
one village may support services in a village nearby.  
 

9.74 In this case, there would be conflict with District Plan Policy H2 in terms of the 
location and accessibility of the site to services and facilities by transport modes 
other than the car. Moderate rather than significant weight is attached to this 
harm considering the possibility of the use of bus services in Northaw and the 
routes via public footway between the site and Cuffley and Potters Bar for 
walking. 

 
9.75 District Plan Policy SD1 and the NPPF advocate sustainable development.  

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 
overarching objectives (economic, social and environmental), which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 

 
9.76 In relation to the economy, the proposed development would make a small 

contribution through the provision of employment and the sale of materials 
associated with the construction of the dwelling. However, the economic benefits 
in terms of construction of the building would be short-term and therefore limited. 
Local businesses would also derive some long term economic benefit from the 
future occupiers spending on goods and services, but this would be limited in 
scale. These considerations therefore carry limited weight in favour of the 
proposal. 
 

9.77 The proposal would provide one additional dwelling which would contribute to 
housing stock in the Borough. This reduces pressure on housing land take 
elsewhere, albeit to a limited degree, and would accord with the support in the 
NPPF for increasing the supply of housing. Further social benefit arises from the 
provision of high quality housing.  

 
9.78 Turning to the environment, the proposal would not be inappropriate 

development and would not materially harm the openness of the Green Belt or 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. In addition, the proposal 

Page 39



would not harm the visual amenity or the character and appearance of the area. 
The design would be good quality and would not cause undue harm to the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers. These considerations weigh moderately in 
favour of the proposal. 

 
9.79 The proposal makes effective and efficient use of former residential land in an 

established residential area. In addition, the applicant’s Design and Access 
Statement (DAS) suggested securing further details about a 20% reduction in 
CO2 carbon emissions. Following further discussions the applicant has now set 
out that a 30% reduction in CO2 emissions would be achievable against the Part 
L 2013 baselines of the Building Regulations. This would be based off a notional 
property in order to take a fabric first approach to improve and increase insulation 
levels to optimise fabric efficiency. A condition is recommended for the 
submission of an energy statement to be submitted prior to above ground level 
work beginning on site, to ensure the new dwelling would be energy efficient in 
line with the above measures, as well as any other renewable energy measures 
which may be appropriate. The use of an Electric Vehicle (EV) charging point can 
also be secured by way of planning condition. Such environmental benefits 
enhance the sustainability credentials of the development which are attributed 
moderate weight. 
 

9.80 In this case, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting permission, 
through the aforementioned development plan conflict, would not significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF taken as a whole. The proposal would therefore, on balance, represent 
sustainable development.  Accordingly, the requirements of paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF, which deals with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
would be met. 
 

10 Conclusion 
 
10.1 The proposal would not be inappropriate development and would not materially 

harm the openness of the Green Belt or conflict with the purposes of including 
land within it. In addition, the proposal would not harm the visual amenity or the 
character and appearance of the area. The design would be good quality and 
would not harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  

10.2 The proposal has been found to afford benefits in all areas of sustainability and is 
in accordance with the aims and objectives of saved policies of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005, the adopted Supplementary Design Guidance and the 
relevant chapters of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

10.3 For the reasons summarised above, together with all other material 
considerations, subject to the suggested conditions the proposal is considered to 
be in accordance with the relevant national and local planning policies and as 
such it is recommended for approval. 

 
 
Conditions: 
 
 PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT 
 
1. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing, 

Page 40



by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide for: 

  
 a) construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
 b) access arrangements to the site 
 c) construction and storage areas (including areas designated for car parking, 

loading/unloading and turning areas); 
 d) siting and detail of wheel washing facilities; 
 e) cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 
 f) timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) 

and to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
 g) provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 

activities; and 
 h) where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 

submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, 
pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements   

  
 REASON: To protect highway safety, the amenity of neighbouring properties and 

the other users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policy 
R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM18 of the draft Local 
Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; Hertfordshire County Council’s Local 
Transport Plan 4 (2018); and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT  
 
2. No above ground development in any phase of the development shall take place 

until samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the buildings hereby granted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented 
using the approved materials and subsequently, the approved materials shall not 
be changed. 

  
 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 

visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. No above ground development shall take place until full details on a suitably 

scaled plan of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved details. The landscaping 
details to be submitted shall include: 

  
 a) means of enclosure and boundary treatments; 
 b) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials; 
 c) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres, 

number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing;  
 d) details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the 

development for biodiversity and wildlife; and 
 e) original levels and proposed finished levels (earthworks to be carried out) 
  
 REASON: The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and enhance 

the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 

Page 41



Policies GBSP2, D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 

  
4. No development above ground level shall take place until an energy statement has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement must include details of how the proposed development would be 
designed and constructed to achieve at least a 30% reduction regulated emissions 
DER (dwelling emission rate) when compared to Part L 2013 baselines, in addition 
to any renewable energy sources to be installed. Following the completion of 
measures identified in the approved energy statement, a verification report which 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the measures installed must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained. 

  
 REASON: To ensure that the development contributes towards sustainable 

development and energy efficiency in accordance with Policy R3 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005; Polices SP1, SP10 & SADM13 of the draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
5. No development above ground level shall take place until full details of EV 

charging parking facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved EV charging facilities must be 
fully implemented and made available for use before the development is occupied 
and thereafter retained for this purpose. 

  
 REASON: To ensure the provision of adequate electric vehicle charging points in 

order to meet the needs of occupiers of the proposed development and in the 
interests of encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance 
with Policies 1 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Policies 
SP10, SADM3 & SADM12 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. No development above ground level shall take place until full details of bat, bird 

and insect nesting boxes/tubes/tiles, including the exact location, specification and 
design, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The structures shall be positioned away from bright lights and 
disturbance and constructed in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the dwelling, and retained in that state thereafter. 

  
 REASON: In the interest of the protection of protected species and the biodiversity 

of the site in accordance with Policy R11 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; 
Polices SP10 & SADM16 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016;  and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
 
7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a triangular 

vision splay shall be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the 
approved drawing number CLN-PPC-XX-XX-DR-C-201 Rev.P2. The vision splays 
so described and on land under the applicant’s control shall be retained free of any 
obstruction to visibility between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent 
highway carriageway.  

  

Page 42



 REASON: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with Hertfordshire County Council’s 
Local Transport Plan 4 (2018), Policy D1 and D5 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005; Policy SADM2 of the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016; and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, all on site 

vehicular areas set aside for car parking and turning areas shall be laid out and 
surfaced, in accordance with the approved drawings and shall be retained 
permanently thereafter for that specific use. Arrangements shall be made for 
surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it 
does not discharge into the highway. 

  
 REASON: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and the permanent 

availability of the parking and manoeuvring areas in the interests of highway safety 
in accordance with Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 (2018), 
Policy D1, D2 and M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; SADM2 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the approved 

details of the cycle and refuse/recycling storage facilities shall be fully 
implemented and thereafter retained for this purpose.  

  
 REASON: To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking and refuse/recycling 

storage in order to meet the needs of the residential units, in the interests of 
encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport and in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with policy D1 and M6 of the District Plan 2005, 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Parking Standards 2004 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
10. Any upper floor window or rooflight located in a wall or roof slope forming a side 

elevation of the building hereby approved, and the porthole style window on the 
front (west) side of the building hereby approved must be obscure-glazed and non-
opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 
metres above the floor of the room in which the window is installed, and shall be 
retained in that form thereafter. 

  
 REASON: To protect the residential amenity and living conditions of adjoining 

occupiers in accordance with Policy D1 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the 
first building, the completion of the development, or in agreed phases whichever is 
the sooner: and any plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of 
the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species. All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the guidance 
contained in British Standards 8545: 2014. 

  
 REASON: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in the 

interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policies D1, 

Page 43



D2 and D8 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no development within Class A, 
B and C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 shall take place. 

  
 REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of 

development normally permitted by that order in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005; Policies SP9 & SADM11 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
DRAWING NUMBERS 
 
13. The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 

accordance with the approved plans and details: 
  

Plan 

Number 

Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

2019/1327/3 1 Proposed Floor Plans & 

Elevations 

23 March 2022 

2019/1327/5 

CLN-PPC-

XX-XX-DR-

C-201 

3A 

P2 

Proposed Roof/Site Plan 

Proposed Access 

Arrangements, Sightlines 

and Swept Paths 

23 August 2022 

29 July 2022 

  
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details. 

 
  
1. POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 
  
 The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 

appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision contrary 
to the development plan (see Officer’s report which can be viewed on the Council's 
website or inspected at these offices). 

 
 Informatives: 
 
1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 

legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 

 

Page 44



2. The granting of this permission does not convey or imply any consent to build 
upon or access from any land not within the ownership of the applicant. 

 
3. The applicant is advised to take account the provisions of The Party Wall Act 1996 

insofar as the carrying out of development affecting or in close proximity to a 
shared boundary. 

 
4. Any damage to the grass verges caused by the development/works hereby 

approved is the responsibility of the applicant and must be re-instated to their 
original condition, within one month of the completion of the development/works. If 
damage to the verges are not repaired then the Council and/or Highway Authority 
will take appropriate enforcement action to remedy any harm caused. 

 
5. In addition, and separate to your planning permission, for the majority of schemes, 

you are required by law to appoint a building regulator who will inspect your 
property at various stages during the course of your building project.  This is to 
ensure it is compliant with the Building Regulations and the Building Act 1984.    

  
 The checks the building regulator will carry out include, but are not limited to, the 

structure, foundations, fire precautions and escape routes, electrical and plumbing 
compliance and other issues such as drainage and insulation.  The objective of 
these checks is to ensure that your building is safe to live in, accessible and 
environmentally sustainable.   

  
 Once all build stages are checked and the works are finished, a Completion 

Certificate is issued confirming that these objectives have been met.  You will also 
need the Completion Certificate, should you sell the property, as it will confirm to 
future owners that the work has been carried out in compliance with the 
Regulations. 

  
 As the owner of the property, you are responsible for Building Regulations 

compliance so we would urge you to decide which regulator to use, as opposed to 
leaving your builder or architect to make the choice.  This is so that you can be 
sure the building regulator is truly independent and working to protect you from 
any breach or omission during the works. 

  
 Hertfordshire Building Control Limited are a Company wholly owned by eight local 

authorities in Hertfordshire including Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council.  Please 
contact them on 01438 879990 or at buildingcontrol@hertfordshirebc.co.uk to 
discuss the process and all that is involved.  Or alternatively refer to the 
Homeowner Information section on their website at www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk 

  
6. New or amended vehicle crossover access (section 184): Where works are 

required within the public highway to facilitate a new or amended vehicular access, 
the Highway Authority require the construction of such works to be undertaken to 
their satisfaction and specification, and by a contractor who is authorised to work 
in the public highway. If any of the works associated with the construction of the 
access affects or requires the removal and/or the relocation of any equipment, 
apparatus or structures (e.g. lamp columns, street name plates, bus stop signs or 
shelters, statutory authority equipment etc.) the applicant will be required to bear 
the cost of such removal or alteration. Before works commence the applicant will 
need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission, requirements 
and for the work to be carried out on the applicant’s behalf. Further information is 
available via the County Council website at: 

Page 45



  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

pavements/changes-to-your-road/droppedkerbs/dropped-kerbs.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
7. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 

associated with the construction of this development should be provided within the 
site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not 
interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be 
sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the County Council website at: 

  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

pavements/business-and-developerinformation/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
8. Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 

1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully 
obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this 
development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network 
becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

pavements/business-and-developerinformation/business-licences/business-
licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
9. Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the 

Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, 
or any rubbish on a made up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to 
the interruption of any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development and use 
thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or 
other debris on the highway. Further information is available by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
10. Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is advised 

that the Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 
1980, to take appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the 
occupier of premises adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or other 
part of the premises falling upon persons using the highway, or to prevent so far 
as is reasonably practicable, surface water from the premises flowing on to, or 
over the footway of the highway.  

 
11. Noise control 
  
 1. All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at 

such other place as may be agreed with the Council, shall be carried out only 
between the hours of :  

 8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays  
 8.00am and 1.00pm Saturdays  

Page 46



 and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays  
  
 2. The best practicable means, as defined in section 72 of the Control of Pollution 

Act 1974, to reduce noise to a minimum shall be employed at all times  
  
 3. All plant and machinery in use shall be properly silenced and maintained in 

accordance with the manufacturers’ instructions. 
  
 4. All compressors shall be sound reduced models, fitted with properly lined and 

sealed acoustic covers, which shall be kept closed whenever the machines are in 
use. All ancillary pneumatic percussive tools shall be fitted with mufflers or 
silencers of the type recommended by the manufactures.  

  
 5. All machines in intermittent use shall be shut down during intervening periods 

between work, or throttled down to a minimum. Noise emitting equipment, which is 
required to operate continuously, shall be housed in suitable acoustic enclosures.  

  
 6. Items of plant and equipment shall be maintained in good condition so that 

extraneous noise from mechanical vibration, squeaking or creaking is reduced to a 
minimum.  

  
 7. Any pile driving shall be carried out by a recognised noise reducing system.  
  
 8. Where practical, rotary drills and bursters, actuated by hydraulic or electric 

power shall be used for excavating hard material. 
  
 9. In general, equipment for breaking concrete and the like, shall be hydraulically 

actuated.  
  
 10. ‘BS 5228 Noise Control on Construction Sites’ should be referred to for 

guidance in respect of all work carried out by the developer, their main contractor 
and any subcontractors.  

  
 11. Any emergency deviation from these conditions shall be notified to the Council 

without delay.  
  
12. Dust control 
  
 1. All efforts shall be made to reduce dust generation to a minimum. 
  
 2. Stock piles of materials for use on the site or disposal that are likely to generate 

dust, shall be sited so as to minimise any nuisance to residents or neighbouring 
businesses. Materials for disposal shall be moved off site as quickly as possible.  

  
 Water sprays shall be used, as and when necessary, to reduce dust from 

particularly "dusty" activities or stock piles 
  
13. Any significant tree/shrub works, or removal should be undertaken outside the 

nesting bird season (March to August inclusive) to protect breeding birds, their 
nests, eggs and young. If this is not practicable, a search of the area should be 
made no more than two days in advance of vegetation clearance by a competent 
Ecologist and if active nests are found, works should stop until the birds have left 
the nest. 

 

Page 47



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 48



Part I 
Main author: Mark Peacock 
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton 
(North Mymms) 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING)  

6/2020/3451/MAJ 

WELLS FARM NORTHAW ROAD EAST CUFFLEY POTTERS BAR EN6 4RD 

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND ERECTION OF 14 DWELLINGS 

APPLICANT: King & Co (Wells) Ltd 

1 Site Description 

1.1 The application site is located south of Cuffley, outside of the settlement 
boundary and within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  The site measures 
approximately 0.49 hectares with an existing vehicular access taken from 
Northaw Road East.   

1.2 The southern boundary of the site adjoins Northaw Road East which is flanked 
by a hedgerow, a short section of closeboard fence and a walled entrance to the 
site.  To the east are two existing dwellings with their own separate means of 
access, these being Wells Farm Cottage to the roadside and Wells Farm House 
to the north-east.  To the west is a more open area close to Hempshill Brook and 
includes a swale and limited tree cover.  To the north is a meadow. 

1.3 The ownership boundary, which is approximately 2.9 hectares overall, extends to 
Hempshill Brook to the west, arable fields to north and east, both defined by 
strong hedge boundaries, and Northaw Road East to the south.  The application 
site forms part of a larger parcel of land (HS30) which was proposed for 
allocation in the emerging Local Plan (proposed submission 2016).   

1.4 The buildings on the application site have established commercial uses and are 
located in the central part of the demise.  The historical agricultural use of the site 
had changed markedly in the late 1970s when the original farm buildings were 
demolished and replaced by the current buildings which are functional in design 
and appearance.   

2 The Proposal 

2.1 The proposal is for the demolition of existing buildings and the erection of 14 
dwellings, together with engineering works and other associated works.   

2.2 The scale of the buildings would be up to two storeys in height, comprising a 6 x 
2-bed semi-detached houses, 7 x 3-bed detached houses and 1 x 4-bed
detached house.  The proposed houses all have dedicated parking, providing at
least two car parking spaces per dwelling, with each home having access to an
electric vehicle charging point and cycle parking.

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



2.3 It is proposed to utilise the existing site access from Northaw Road East which 
would be improved as part of the proposals.   

2.4 The application is accompanied by a range of documentation and supporting 
material, as listed below: 
 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Planning Statement 

 Site Waste Management Plan 

 Economic Statement  

 Transport Statement  

 Energy Strategy  

 Drainage Strategy 

 Flood Risk Assessment 

 Ground Conditions Report 

 Multiple Ecological Reports 

 Arboricultural Appraisal  

 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment  

 Strategy of Community Engagement 
 

3 Reason for Committee Consideration 
 
3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 

because Northaw and Cuffley Parish Council have submitted a Major objection 
and the proposal is recommended for approval. 

4 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 Application Number: S6/1975/0469/  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 16 January 1976 
Proposal: Site for replacement house, stable, barns, greenhouses, chicken 
houses and car park 

 
4.2 Application Number: S6/1975/0605/  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 21 November 1975 
Proposal: New stable block comprising 4 loose boxes, hay store, feed and tack 
room 

 
4.3 Application Number: S6/1976/0299/ 

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 06 September 1976 
Proposal: Demolition of shop and replacing with a new shop, office, greenhouse 
and chicken house    

 
4.4 Application Number: S6/1978/0004/   

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 26 January 1978 
Proposal: Replacement house 

 
4.5 Application Number: S6/1978/0612/  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 02 November 1978 

Page 50



Proposal: Shop and office      
 
4.6 Application Number: S6/1993/0641/FP  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 25 November 1993 
Proposal: Change of use from agricultural building to specialist carpentry     

 
4.7 Application Number: S6/1994/0513/LU  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 26 September 1994 
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness, occupation of dwelling house without 
compliance with condition 4 of planning permission S6/0004/78 (occupation of 
house restricted to horticultural worker)  
 

4.8 Application Number: S6/1998/0004/FP  
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 16 February 1998 
Proposal: Change of use of ground floor of agricultural building to ancillary office 
accommodation in connection with joinery and blacksmith businesses 

 
4.9 Application Number: S6/1998/0005/FP 

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 16 February 1998 
Proposal: Change of use of agricultural building to specialist blacksmith, and 
wrought iron work manufacture.    

 
4.10 Application Number: S6/2004/1538  

Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 26/07/2005 
Proposal: Variation of condition 2 (S6/1998/04) to allow the building to be used 
for general office use within use class B1(a) 

 
4.11 Application Number: S6/2005/0941  

Decision: Granted 
Decision Date: 10/01/06  
Proposal: Change of use of former agricultural building to storage & distribution 
(class B8) 
 

4.12 Application Number: S6/2007/1796/FP  
Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 21 January 2008 
Proposal: Change of use of redundant former farm building to storage and 
distribution (class B8) 

 
4.13 Application Number: S6/2011/1624/LUP  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 22 September 2011 
Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for proposed erection of detached 
garage/playroom and extension to existing driveway to form access to building 

 
4.14 Application Number: S6/2013/1451/LUP  

Decision: Granted  
Decision Date: 02 September 2013 

Page 51



Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for proposed erection of detached 
garage/playroom and extension to existing driveway to form access to building 

 
5 Relevant Planning Policy 

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)  

 
5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (District Plan) 
 
5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (draft Local Plan) 
 
5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG) 
 
5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG) 

 
5.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 

Parking Policy) 
 
6 Site Designation  

 
6.1 The Application Site is not allocated in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan (2005) 

for development and lies outside of the specified settlement of Cuffley.  The 
Application site lies wholly within the Metropolitan Green Belt and Landscape 
Character Area 53 “Northaw Common Parkland” as defined by the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan.   

7 Representations Received  
 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters, site 
notice and press notice.  In total 142 representations have been received, 
comprising 131 objections and 11 in support.  All representations received are 
published in full on the Council’s website and are summarised below. 
 
Support  
 

 A well planned and thought out development that considers the needs of 
the home owner and surrounding area. 

 Need for more homes to support the growing local population 

 Pleased to see this proposal include 3-bedroom houses, which are of a 
very high design.  

 It is important we embrace this opportunity and support it, especially as it 
is using previously developed land, which will be regenerated.  

 The NPPF encourages the use of previously developed land, and that 
sites that are physically well-related to existing settlements, should be 
encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.  

 Wells Farm site is across the road from several sports facilities, an 
extensive playing field and also a modern play area for children. The 
nearby Hertfordshire Way also offers recreational opportunities for all 
ages. The site is about a 10 minute fairly level walk to Cuffley Village 
centre and approximately a 15 minute walk to Cuffley station. 
Consequently the site meets many sustainability criteria. 

 There is a mix of cottages with a one 4-bed farm-house which seems well 
balanced. Electric power points are a positive. Improved footways & the 

Page 52



30mph zone to the south west to the benefit of the tennis, football and 
bowls club. 

 A good scheme meeting the ever increasing demands for housing in the 
area. Whilst not impacting on the existing landscape or surroundings. 

 The proposed development is on previously developed land and is in a 
highly suitable and sustainable location, within walking and cycling 
distance of all the local facilities, services and amenities and close to 
excellent public transport links. 

 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council does not have an up-to-date Local Plan, 
it has a poor record in the delivery of new homes, it is failing to meet its 
Objectively Assessed Housing Need and it does not have a five-year 
housing land supply. These matters all tilt the balance in favour of the 
proposed development. 

 
Objections 

 

 Stage 3 Green Belt Review (EX156) identified a harm rating of “very high”  

 No Very Special Circumstances demonstrated 

 Loss of Green Belt openness  

 No defensible Green Belt boundary leading to urban sprawl 

 Development is physically removed from the village of Cuffley 

 Unacceptable to make any decisions on proposed development on the 
Green Belt prior to the adoption of the Local Plan 

 Challenge to housing figures presented in the Draft Local Plan which are 
based on out-of-date population projections  

 Housing need uncertain in these times of economic instability 

 Cuffley has a disproportionate amount of development compared to 
similar villages 

 The proposed uplift in scale, bulk and massing, in combination with the 
associated new domestic activity at the site, would result in a significant 
harmful impact on the openness of the Green Belt, both within the site 
itself and the site’s wider contribution to the Green Belt purpose 

 Insufficient railway station parking 

 Trains over capacity 

 Inadequate bus service 

 More people will result in more pollution 

 Odour from nearby composting facility 

 Light pollution 

 Air pollution 

 Wildlife will be affected including protected species 

 Proposed houses look very cramped in the setting.  

 The 14 units in isolation are quite acceptable if this is all that ever 
transpired, but the precedent will be set for further development and this 
will have an impact on the area 

 This development will lead to an extra 600-700 dwellings 

 The character of the village would be further and irrevocably changed  

 In this pandemic, people have used the Green Belt for exercise and 
appreciated its worth in relieving mental health in such stressful times 

 Viable business using the buildings used for storage and manufacturing 
would be lost if the site is developed.  

 Should be Affordable Homes or Starter Homes 

 Older homes should be refurbished and extended for use for younger 
growing families 

Page 53



 Prone to flooding 

 Cumulative impact on traffic  

 Highway safety and capacity concerns especially when there are incidents 
on M25 & A10 

 Insufficient GP and A&E provision  

 Concerns in relation to the capacity of drainage/sewage infrastructure 

 Insufficient school provision  

 No visitor parking 

 No bin storage 

 Loss of view 

 Farm land should be used for food production  

 The Council should be looking to the future and take account of likely 
changes in government policy arising from the decline in high street retail 
thus releasing buildings and sites for development; declining birth rates; 
climate change and the need to retain green spaces. 

 
8 Consultations Received 

 
8.1 No objections have been received in principle from statutory consultees, subject 

to conditions and/or financial contributions.  The consultation responses received 
are summarised below, and where appropriate, are expanded upon in later 
sections of this report.   

8.2 Hertfordshire and Middlesex Wildlife Trust – objection summarised as follows: 

 The ecological constraints review that accompanies this application does 
not conform to BS42020 or any CIEEM guidance on ecological report 
writing.  Neither does it contain the identity or qualifications of the person 
who has undertaken the assessment.  There is a reasonable likelihood 
that protected or priority species may be affected by this proposal.  
 

8.3 The following have responded advising that they have no objections to the 
proposal in principle subject to conditions or obligations being applied: 

 Thames Water 

 WHBC Client Services 

 WHBC Public Health and Protection 

 WHBC Landscape and Ecology  

 WHBC Housing 

 HCC Growth Team 

 HCC Transport Programmes and Strategy  

 HCC Historic Environment 

 HCC Lead Local Flood Authority 

 Hertfordshire Ecology 

 Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue 
 

8.4 No response was received from the following consultees: 

 Cadent Gas 

 Environment Agency  

 Affinity Water 

 HCC Mineral and Waste 
 
9 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 

Page 54



9.1 Northaw and Cuffley Parish Council have submitted a Major Objection which can 
be summarised as: Objection on the grounds that the proposal will result in high 
harm to the Green Belt; the failure of the applicant to demonstrate very special 
circumstances; landscape impacts in a sensitive location and erosion of an 
important green gap; transport impacts and inadequate mitigation proposals; and 
unsuitable remote rural location. 
 

10 Analysis 
 

10.1 The main planning issues to be considered in the determination of this 
application are: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
3. Residential amenity  
4. Highways and transport considerations  
5. Other considerations  

i) Landscape and trees 
ii) Ecology and biodiversity  
iii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
iv) Contaminated land 
v) Air Quality 
vi) Archaeology 
vii) Accessible and adaptable dwellings 
viii) Sustainable design and low carbon homes 

6. Planning obligations  
7. The planning balance 

 
 

1.  Principle of the development 
 

10.2 Policy SD1 of the District Plan advocates sustainable development and this is 
broadly consistent with the NPPF.  Achieving sustainable development means 
that the planning system has three overarching objectives (economic, social and 
environmental), which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways. 

10.3 Policy R1 states that in order to make the best use of land in the district, the 
Council will require development to take place on land which has been previously 
used or developed.  These objectives are consistent with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which supports the development of under-utilised land 
and buildings (Para.120) and the efficient use of land (Para.124).   

10.4 The definition of previously developed land in the NPPF excludes land that is or 
was last occupied by agricultural buildings.  The site supports a number of 
buildings shown on Drawing No.P0-002, identified A-G.  The majority of these (A, 
B, D and E) have been subject to planning applications where the former 
agricultural use has been changed to allow commercial activity.  Building F has a 
long-established lawful use as a stables which falls outside the definition of an 
agricultural use.  Below is a summary of the relevant planning history for each 
building:  

Building A  
 

Page 55



10.5 The Planning Statement which accompanied the application explains that 
Building A was utilised as a carpentry workshop, in accordance with planning 
permission S6/1993/0641/FP (included at para 4.6 of the report).  The building 
was fire damaged in 2006, following which it has had its roof removed.  The brick 
walls and concrete base remain, and the applicant had advised that the area is 
used for open storage and this was witnessed during the Case Officer’s site visit. 

10.6 While Building A was in lawful commercial use in 2006, the key test for 
Previously Developed Land, as defined in the NPPF, is what it was last occupied 
for – an intervening use may therefore be relevant. 

10.7 Photographs of the remains of Building A are included within the submitted 
Planning Statement (Para 2.2 & 6.35) and the Design and Access Statement 
(Page 25-26 & aerial imagery page 28).  Although the photographs are undated, 
they clearly show Building A at two separate points in time.  Both sets of 
photographs show the footprint of the building to be largely open with a variety of 
items stored, whilst one set of photographs shows a skip sited within the footprint 
of the building.  During a site visit on 14 June 2022, the Case Officer observed 
the footprint of the building being largely open in the centre with the areas close 
to the side walls of the building used to store various items including: building 
materials, ladders, barrels, wheelbarrows, a gate, scaffolding poles and an 
excavator scoop.   

10.8 The Council is not aware of any evidence which would suggest that Building A 
reverted to an agricultural use at any time.   

Building B 
 
Change of use of ground floor of agricultural building to ancillary office 
accommodation in connection with joinery and blacksmith businesses was 
granted planning permission on 16 February 1998 under application reference:  
S6/1998/0004/FP. 
 
Subsequently, a variation of condition 2 (S6/1998/0004/FP), to allow the building 
to be used for general office use within use class B1(a), was granted planning 
permission on 26 July 2005 under application reference: S6/2004/1538/FP.   
 
Building C 

 
10.9 The applicant advises that the landowner has let out buildings B-E to Blue Jigsaw 

for a considerable period of time.  The applicant has provided a copy of a 
Companies House statement that identifies Wells Farm as the registered address 
of Blue Jigsaw from August 2011.  The planning history indicates that the 
company occupied building D in 2007 as identified on the site plan which 
accompanied planning application S6/2007/1796/FP which related to the change 
of use building E.  Building C is annotated on the same plan as “vacant subject to 
renovation proposals”.   

10.10 The applicant has provided a copy of the tenancy agreement, dated 15 
December 2019, together with a lease plan that shows the buildings edged red 
which are leased (B-E) to Blue Jigsaw.   

10.11 There is no planning history specific to Building C.  The applicant states that 
Building C forms part of the commercial use and is occupied by Blue Jigsaw and 
has been so since they took on the site.  During a site visit on 14 June 2022, the 

Page 56



Case Officer observed Building C being used intensively to store various items 
associated with the Blue Jigsaw’s business.  The building was lined with four 
long rows of racking on which was stored stock items for the business, such as 
rolls of fabric, soft furnishings, tins of paint and packaging.   

10.12 The applicant has submitted a Statutory Declaration (from the landowner) which 
specifies that Building C is the principal storage area in constant use by Blue 
Jigsaw since at least 2010, which exceeds 10 years.  The Statutory Declaration 
provides a reasonable basis for considering Building C to be previously 
developed land.  A Statutory Declaration is sworn, therefore Members are 
entitled to take the facts specified as being true unless the Council has evidence 
to the contrary.  In this case, the council has no evidence to contradict the stated 
facts, therefore it is reasonable to accept this as sufficient evidence on balance of 
probabilities as to the use of Building C and to give it weight accordingly in 
assessing whether the site is previously developed land.  

Building D 

 

Change of use of former agricultural building to storage and distribution (class 
B8) was granted planning permission on 10 January 2006 under application 
reference: S6/2005/0941/FP. 
 

Building E 

 

Change of use of redundant former farm building to storage & distribution (class 
B8) was granted planning permission on 21 January 2008 under application 
reference: S6/2007/1796/FP. 
 

Building F 
 
A stable block comprising 4 loose boxes, hay store, feed and tack room was 
granted planning permission on 21 November 1975 under application reference: 
S6/1975/0605/. 
 
Building G 
 

10.13 There is no planning history specific to Building G.  The applicant has advised 
that Building G was constructed in 2006 by the landowner and has been used to 
store machinery (including grass cutting equipment) in connection with 
maintenance of the commercial part of the site and the gardens associated with 
the house.  During a site visit on 14 June 2022, the Case Officer observed 
Building G being used for storage of predominantly gardening equipment and 
various tools.  Also present was a small work bench, old electrical and items, 
decorating equipment, two bicycles and a small number of boxes containing 
books and paper files.  The use of this building has therefore been assessed as 
storage incidental to the use of the commercial and residential components of the 
wider site. 

Conclusion on Previously Developed Land 
 
Officers are of the opinion that, on the balance of probability none of the buildings 
within the site remain in agricultural use.  The definition of previously developed 
land includes: “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, 
including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed 

Page 57



that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed 
surface infrastructure.”  In this case, the site includes land around the application 
buildings such as: areas of hardstanding used for car parking; areas of 
hardstanding used for access and circulation to the application buildings, Wells 
Farm Cottage and Wells Farm House; areas of soft landscaping associated with 
the application buildings and the domestic use of the neighbouring properties.  
Whilst lawful uses for every part of the site have not been confirmed, it is 
considered reasonable to conclude on the balance of probabilities that the 
application site is previously developed land.  On that basis the proposal can be 
considered as the complete redevelopment of previously developed land.   

Status of the draft Local Plan  

10.14 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that 
the decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, the statutory development plan comprises: 

 The Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005  

 Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 & Hertfordshire 

Waste Site Allocations Development Plan Document; and  

 Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
10.15 The NPPF is a material consideration to be taken into account in determining this 

application.  A revised NPPF was published in July 2021.  This largely reordered 
the policy substance of the earlier 2012 and 2019 versions of the NPPF albeit 
with some revisions to policy. 

10.16 The Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 remains the adopted development plan 
for the Borough.  The Council has prepared a new Local Plan to replace the 
District Plan.  The Council does not currently have a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites, a position which the emerging Local Plan seeks to 
remedy through its site allocations.  

10.17 The emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and the examination remains 
ongoing.  In line with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, local planning authorities may 
give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:  

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given) 

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 
may be given) 

10.18 The application site forms part of a larger parcel of land (HS30) which was 
proposed for allocation in the emerging Local Plan (proposed submission 2016).  
Its release from the Green Belt is considered to constitute high harm.  For that 
reason, in late 2020 the Council, in response to submitting additional site to the 
Examination sought to remove the proposed allocation from the draft Local Plan.   

10.19 Following the Stage 9 Hearings the Inspector issued his round up notes (EX273) 
in which he states that he does not consider the high harm assessment for the 
site and the site to the north (HS29) to be appropriate.  He went on to state that 
locations of the bus stops and railway station suggest that this is a location that 

Page 58



could enable a successful encouragement of the use of more sustainable means 
of travel.  In conclusion he stated that the future of these sites, in the context of 
the local plan, lies in the relative amount of overall development that is justified at 
Cuffley and the deliverability of the other proposed sites.  The Inspector 
requested the Council submit additional sites from those examined, sufficient to 
at least provide a Full Objectively Assessed Housing Need (FOAHN) of 15,200 
dwellings to 2036. 

10.20 At a Special meeting of the Council in January 2022 a strategy to deliver 13,279 
homes, not dependent on the release of high harm sites, was put forward to the 
Examination.  The Inspector subsequently confirmed the Council could put 
forward sites to meet this FOAHN for the first ten years of the plan period, 
subject to an early Local Plan review (EX283).  The Inspector also stated that 
three sites (which includes HS30) should remain in the plan and be subject to 
Main Modification consultation.  He went on to state that if this is not accepted, 
then the Council has no course other than to withdraw the plan. 

10.21 At a meeting of the Council on the 26th July 2022 it was resolved to put forward a 
strategy that would deliver 12,775 dwellings which over the 10 year period would 
equate to 8,517 dwellings and a five year land supply of 5,292 dwellings 
(EX289).  In its letter to the Inspector (EX289) the Council stated it had 
considered options for additional sites including the retention of HS30.  However, 
it concluded the identified supply of 12,775 is sufficient at this stage and there is 
no case for additional sites particularly when this would require the release of 
high harm land from the Green Belt.  The Council expects a response from the 
Inspector in September, and if supportive would progress to Main Modification 
consultation shortly afterwards. 

10.22 In conclusion, HS30 has been assessed by the Inspector at the examination and 
the Inspector stated that the principle of development on this site has been found 
to be sound.  Notwithstanding this, the Council has considered the retention of 
HS30 and has concluded there is no case for its inclusion particularly when its 
allocation would require the release of high harm land from the Green Belt. 

10.23 The release from the Green Belt and allocation of development of HS30 as part 
of the Local Plan relates to a much larger parcel of land from the Green Belt 
compared to the current application which has been submitted as the 
redevelopment of a previously developed land in the Green Belt and is assessed 
accordingly below.  Members are advised that in relation to the Green Belt 
assessment and the planning balance in this case, no positive weight should be 
afforded to the proposed allocation of HS30. 

Prematurity 
 

10.24 The NPPF sets out how arguments that an application is premature are unlikely 
to justify a refusal of planning permission other than in the limited circumstances 
where both: the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect 
would be so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-
making process by pre-determining decisions about the scale, location or 
phasing of new development that are central to an emerging plan; and the 
emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the 
development plan for the area (Paragraph 49) 

10.25 The site is a proposed allocation in the draft Local Plan and the Inspector has 
indicated that the site is sound.  It is not considered that the granting of 

Page 59



permission would undermine the plan-making process.  Therefore, the 
determination of this application would not be premature.  

Green Belt 
 

10.26 The site lies within the Green Belt and Policy GBSP1 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 (the District Plan) states that the Green Belt will be maintained 
in Welwyn Hatfield as defined on the Proposals Map.  

10.27 More specifically, in relation to development in the Green Belt, Paragraph 149 of 
the NPPF states that a local planning authority should regard the construction of 
new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt.  Exceptions to this include: g) 
limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would: ‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than 
the existing development; or ‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the 
Green Belt, where the development would re-use previously developed land and 
contribute to meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the 
local planning authority. 

10.28 The proposal can be considered as the complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land.  The proposal does not include the provision of on-site 
affordable housing.  Instead, a commuted sum of £914,000 is proposed based on 
the formula set out in The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document.  The commuted sum would be used to deliver affordable housing in 
the Borough and this can be secured by a S106 Legal Agreement. 

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment, undertaken as part of the evidence 
base for the emerging Local Plan, identifies that there is a need for affordable 
housing and Policy H7 of the adopted District Plan and Policy SP7 of the 
emerging Local Plan set out the Council’s requirements for the provision of 
affordable housing.  Therefore, as the proposed development would re-use 
previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable 
housing need, it must be assessed on the basis of the second limb of the 
exception g) of paragraph 149 of the NPPF.  This requires an assessment as to 
whether the complete redevelopment of the site would cause substantial harm to 
the openness of the Green Belt. 

10.29 There is no definition of openness in NPPF but, in the context of the Green Belt, 
it is generally held to refer to freedom from, or the absence of, development.  
Openness is capable of having both a spatial (physical) aspect and a visual 
aspect.  It is necessary therefore to have regard to the existing development on 
the site when assessing effects on openness.  In any particular case these are 
matters of planning judgement. 
 

10.30 The site includes numerous buildings and structures which cover a large part of 
the site.  The heights of these buildings and structures range from about 4m to 
6.5m.  The heights of these buildings and structures combined with the proximity 
of these to each other and the extent of their footprints, results in development of 
a significant scale and massing.  Therefore, despite the application site forming 
part of a larger parcel of land with generally high levels of visual openness, the 
existing development appreciably reduces and harms the openness of the Green 
Belt. 
 

Page 60



10.31 The applicant’s submissions show that there would be a reduction in the footprint 
of development at the application site.  The existing buildings within the site have 
an aggregate footprint of circa 1,123sqm alongside hardstanding.  In comparative 
terms, the proposed development has an aggregate footprint of 1,058sqm which 
is inclusive of garaging.  The proposed dwellings would not extend significantly 
beyond the extant footprint of development. 
 

10.32 No comparative volume figures have been submitted.  However, the proposed 
dwellings are predominantly laid out over 2 storeys and their ridge heights would 
range from approximately 8m to 9m, therefore they would be taller than the 
existing buildings.  On this basis, a significant increase in volume is anticipated 
and acknowledged.  The difference in height between the existing built form and 
the proposed development, together with a commensurate increase in volume, is 
clearly material and are matters of judgement for the decision-maker to weigh in 
the balance.  In this regard, the findings of Sales LJ (in Turner v Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government [2016] EWCA Civ 466) remain 
pertinent. Sales LJ found:  

 
The concept of ‘openness of the Green Belt’ is not narrowly limited to the 
volumetric approach suggested by [counsel]. The word ‘openness’ is 
open-textured and a number of factors are capable of being relevant when 
it comes to applying it to the particular facts of a specific case. Prominent 
among these will be factors relevant to how built up the Green Belt is now 
and how built up it would be if redevelopment occurs … and factors 
relevant to the visual impact on the aspect of openness which the Green 
Belt presents.” (Sales LJ). 

 

10.33 In this case, the design approach for the proposed development has sought to 
minimise its visual impacts and reduce the built up appearance of the Green Belt.  
The proposal would replace buildings that have large individual footprints with 
much narrower proportioned buildings which helps to break down the scale and 
more closely replicate the linear barn aesthetic of traditional farmsteads.  The 
proposed scheme demonstrates a well-considered layout that reflects a rural 
typology and takes its reference from the architectural heritage of nearby 
development in Northaw and Cuffley.  The formal ‘manor house’ presents a 
central focus to the development, with a number of barn-like dwellings enclosing 
the central shared-surface space.  Materials have been selected to reference a 
rural aesthetic.  The amount of hardstanding would be reduced and the setting 
enhanced with soft landscaping and sympathetic surfacing materials.  

10.34 The private amenity spaces would be largely enclosed by native hedge planting 
around the perimeter of the application site, interspersed with feature trees.  The 
perimeter planting would be set back from the ownership boundary, behind 
sizeable areas of open space.  The buildings would maintain a comfortable 
setback distance from the road frontage and any residual views of the roofline 
are partial by virtue of substantial screening and topography.  
 

10.35 The visual assessment which forms part of the submitted Design and Access 
Statement has sought to demonstrate that the views of the scheme from publicly 
accessible positions would be predominantly partial and glimpsed.  In summary, 
the site is situated close to the bottom of a steep valley and is well screened by 
landform, existing mature trees and hedgerows.  The only clear view of the site 
from a public right of way is directly opposite the site entrance (photograph 10), 
although this is a short glimpsed view as the site is set well back from the road 

Page 61



with the principal building visible being the existing cottage building lying just 
outside the development boundary against the road.  The visual effects of the 
development beyond the immediate locality would be limited. 
 

10.36 It is proposed that screening would be further reinforced with additional hedge 
and tree planting and this can be secured by condition. 

 
10.37 It is also reasonable to factor in to the weighting exercise, the quite common 

manifestations and visual impacts that might be associated with the lawful 
commercial use of the land such as: external storage of materials, pallets, skips, 
refuse and recycling containers, commercial vehicles, including HGV’s and vans 
and private vehicles associated with employees and visitors, etc.  Impacts on 
both the openness and character and appearance of the area said to arise from 
the proposal must be judged not against the appearance of a green field site or a 
farmstead, but how the site may appear should the lawful use continue.    
 

10.38 In summary, whilst there would be a reduction in developed footprint and a 
reduction in the scale and massing of some individual buildings, the heights of 
the proposed two-storey dwellings would result in a greater adverse effect on 
openness in a spatial sense when compared with the extant development. 
Visually, the effect of the development would be shaped by a more complex 
combination of factors which include benefits and dis-benefits.  Overall, it is 
considered that the proposal would introduce more prominent built development 
to the site when viewed in close proximity.  However, views from outside the 
ownership boundary would generally be well screened.  Any dwellings seen from 
Northaw Road West would be viewed in the context of the adjacent Wells Farm 
Cottage to the roadside and Wells Farm House.  Therefore, these factors would 
ameliorate the visual effects and any harm arising from the introduction of taller 
buildings at the application site.  The development would result in localised 
effects on receptors in close proximity to the site, but more limited effects in the 
wider landscape.   
 

10.39 At present the hard surfaced areas within the application site are used for access 
and circulation, the parking of vehicles and for external storage.  Therefore, the 
highways infrastructure, parked cars, gardens, boundary treatments and other 
domestic paraphernalia arising from the proposal would not have any significant 
adverse effect on the visual and spatial openness of the Green Belt when 
compared to the extant use.  Also, because the second limb of paragraph 149 g) 
of the NPPF, specifically refers to the provision of affordable housing, some 
domestic paraphernalia, vehicle parking and lighting is to be expected. 
Therefore, while the proposal would have a greater effect on the visual openness 
of the Green Belt, this would not amount to substantial harm. 
 

10.40 Drawing on the above reasons, it would not be unreasonable to conclude that the 
redevelopment of the site for the 14 dwellings proposed, would not cause 
substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt.  Therefore, in principle, the 
proposal accords with the exception under Paragraph 149 g) of the NPPF and is 
not inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  Accordingly, there is no conflict 
with Policy GBSP1 of the District Plan. 

 
Loss of employment land  

 
10.41 Policy EMP8 of the District Plan states that planning permission will only be 

granted for residential development on employment sites where it can be shown 

Page 62



that the development of the site for a ‘live-work’ mixed use scheme would not be 
viable.  In this case, no evidence has been provided to show that the application 
site is not viable for a ‘live-work’ mixed use scheme.  The proposal therefore 
conflicts with Policy EMP8 of the District Plan.  

10.42 The Planning Statement which accompanied this application makes the case that 
the premise of a successful live-work scheme is founded upon the opportunity to 
attract “light” employment uses that are appropriate and do not impact the 
amenity of residential properties that they would adjoin.  It goes on to state that 
there is no market evidence that the redevelopment of this site could sustain 
office use alongside residential homes.  The existing use of the site is dominated 
by B8 storage by an occupier that has a predominant online trading platform.  If 
that or a similar operation was to be introduced as part of a mixed-use scheme 
then it would result in conflict between employment and residential uses.  

10.43 It is notable that a similar proposal for the redevelopment of Colesdale Farm was 
allowed on appeal in February this year (ref: APP/C1950/W/20/3253559).  
Colesdale Farm is situated approximately 350m west of the Wells Farm and is 
largely occupied by employment uses.  In this case the Inspector acknowledged 
the conflict with Policy EMP8 but found that “…more recent advice under 
paragraph 123 of the NPPF, encourages local planning authorities to take a 
positive approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently 
developed but not allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help 
to meet identified development needs.”   

10.44 The application site is currently developed but not allocated for a specific 
purpose in the adopted District Plan.  The application site is also in an area 
where the demand for housing is particularly high and there is no substantive 
evidence to suggest that the loss of the site for employment use would 
undermine key economic sectors or sites.  As such, it is considered that the 
delivery of housing, including a financial contribution towards affordable housing 
outweighs the loss of this employment site. 

2. Quality of design and impact on the character of the area 
 

10.45 District Plan Policies D1 and D2 aim to ensure a high quality of design and to 
ensure that development respects and relates to the character and context of the 
locality, maintaining and where possible enhancing the character of the existing 
area.  These policies are expanded upon in the Council’s Supplementary Design 
Guidance (SDG).  Policy SP9 of the draft Local Plan deals with place making and 
high quality design and Policy SADM11 amenity and layout. 

10.46 The revised NPPF 2021 has a strong emphasis on good quality design.  
Paragraph 126 clearly advises that the creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve and that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development.  Paragraph 130 of the NPPF further advises that 
decisions should ensure developments will function well and add to the overall 
character of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and 
establish a strong sense of place.  As such, there is also consistency between 
the District Plan and emerging Local Plan with the NPPF. 

10.47 The submitted Design and Access Statement explores this matter in more detail, 
but in essence the proposed layout is inspired by that of a typical traditional 
farmyard, with clusters of buildings arranged around a series of connected 

Page 63



spaces with the relationships of the buildings and parking reminiscent of the rural 
vernacular.  There is an emphasis on shared surfaces for vehicular and 
pedestrian access with materials selected to maintain the rural feel.  The 
proposed dwellings are a mix of 2 bed, 3 bed and 4 bedroom family units, 
arranged in a ‘pinwheel’ centred on a courtyard.  Houses face the shared spaces 
to define, frame and activate them, and provide natural surveillance.  The 
proposed scheme demonstrates a well-considered layout that responds to the 
context of the site, optimises natural surveillance and aims to enhance a sense of 
community, security and ownership.  Materials have been selected to reference a 
rural aesthetic and enhance local distinctiveness, however, precise details can 
be controlled and secured by condition.  

10.48 The application is accompanied by a suite of technical documents and other 
supporting evidence, including a Design and Access Statement and Planning 
Statement which illustrate in detail the evolution of the design.  The supporting 
documents have been scrutinised by the officers and statutory consultees.  
Having done so, they are satisfied that the proposal would achieve a high quality 
built environment.   
 

10.49 In view of the above, it is considered that a good standard of development which 
respects the visual amenities and the character of the area can be adequately 
safeguarded with conditions. 

 
3. Residential amenity  

 
10.50 The NPPF is clear that planning should be a means of finding ways to enhance 

and improve the places in which people live their lives.  This means that 
authorities should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Policies D1 
and R19 of the District Plan seek to ensure that no new development would 
adversely affect the existing area either in terms of any built form or in terms of 
the operation of any uses from noise and vibration pollution.  Draft Local Plan 
Policy SADM11 states that proposals are required to create and protect a good 
standard of amenity for buildings and external open space in line with the 
Council’s SDG.  The SDG provides the local policy framework when assessing 
the impact of development on residential amenity of neighbouring properties, as 
well as providing sufficient amenity for potential future occupiers of the proposed 
development.   
 

10.51 The properties which would be most affected by the proposal are Wells Farm 
House and Wells Farm Cottage.  No representations have been received from 
the occupiers of these properties and the proposal would not result in an 
unacceptable relationship between neighbouring properties.  Approximately a 
38m separation distance would be maintained between the flank wall of Wells 
Farmhouse and the nearest proposed dwelling, whilst approximately 19m would 
separate the flank wall of Wells Farm Cottage from the nearest dwelling.  
 

10.52 Whilst the outlook from Wells Farm House and Wells Farm Cottage would 
change fairly significantly, this is not in itself a reason to withhold planning 
permission.  The impact of the proposal on the outlook from properties situated 
further afield would be minimal given the separation distance, topography and 
intervening soft landscaping.  Due to the separation distance and the modest 
scale of the site, the development would not present an overtly dominant feature 
and any change in outlook would have limited effect in the context of a previously 

Page 64



developed site.  It is noted that objections have been received with regard to a 
loss of a view, however, planning exists within the public interest and not the 
private interest and therefore this is not a consideration that holds weight. 
 

10.53 In addition to the impact of the built development, the proposals have the 
potential to impact on residential amenities through operational impacts during 
construction.  The extent of the development is such that there is potential for 
noise and atmospheric pollution nuisance during the construction phases.  These 
impacts can be managed and mitigated in line with best practice and can be 
secured through the implementation of a site specific Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP), which can be required by condition. 
 

10.54 Given the above, it is considered unlikely that the proposed development would 
have any significant adverse impacts on the residential amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. 
 

10.55 Turning to future occupiers, the position of windows has been considered in such 
a way as to avoid undue overlooking between properties.  Nevertheless, given 
the relatively high density of development proposed, there would inevitably be 
views from windows towards neighbouring properties and over rear gardens.  
However, a degree of overlooking is acceptable and would be consistent with a 
neighbouring relationship generally expected between residential properties. 
 

10.56 All proposed dwellings would be compliant with the Nationally Described Space 
Standards and would also meet accessible and adaptable standards (Building 
Regulations Part M4(2)), exceeding emerging policy requirements.  Each new 
house would have a private garden which is appropriately sized for the dwelling.  
All gardens would be provided with patio areas large enough for outdoor family 
dining around a table, and have footpath access securely gated.  Each property 
would also have appropriately designed bin stores and cycle storage.  
 

10.57 In terms of noise, the proposed residential use is not likely to cause any adverse 
impacts.  However, the Council’s Public Health and Protection Officer noted that 
the site is located within proximity of Cuffley Football Club and Colesdale Farm, 
which is largely occupied by commercial uses.  There is also potential noise 
disturbance from road traffic on Northaw Road East.  A condition is therefore 
recommended to ensure that noise will not have an adverse impact on the living 
conditions of future occupants. 

 
10.58 The new dwellinghouses would benefit from permitted development rights.  It is 

therefore appropriate to assess what impact further extensions could have on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  NPPF paragraph 54 states 
“planning conditions should not be used to restrict national permitted 
development rights unless there is clear justification to do so.”  The Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that “Area-wide or blanket removal of 
freedoms to carry out small scale domestic and non-domestic alterations that 
would otherwise not require an application for planning permission are unlikely to 
meet the tests of reasonableness and necessity”.  In this case, given the 
relatively small plot sizes and the close proximity of neighbouring properties, 
further extensions built within permitted development would likely impact upon 
the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, with particular regard to 
overbearing impact, loss of light and loss of privacy.  Therefore, to protect the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers it would be reasonable to impose a planning 
condition withdrawing permitted development rights enabling the Local Planning 

Page 65



Authority to retain control over the enlargement or alteration of the proposed new 
dwellings (class A) and their enlargement of consisting of an addition or alteration 
to its roof (class B). 
 

10.59 In light of the above observations, it is considered that the proposed development 
would respect and sufficiently retain the amenity of surrounding residential 
properties and, subject to conditions, would provide a good level of amenity for 
future occupants in accordance with District Plan Polices, the Supplementary 
Design Guidance and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF in this regard.   

 
4. Highways and transport considerations  

 
10.60 The Highway Authority issued their initial response on the 15th February 2021 

which recommended refusal due to insufficient information in relation to the 
visibility from the vehicular access and proposed 30mph speed limit change. The 
applicant worked positively towards addressing the issues of concern and in 
response submitted a Technical Note, dated 11th March 2021.  The Technical 
Note has included the following key details: 
 

 x3 7-day speed surveys and updated visibility splays; 

 Confirmation the applicant is no longer proposing to change the speed 
limit on Northaw Road East to 30mph. 

 
10.61 Following reconsultation, the Highway Authority has confirmed that it does not 

wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to suggested conditions and 
planning obligations. 

Trip Generation: 
 
10.62 Herts County Council (HCC) as Highway Authority has reviewed the application 

submission and have no objection to the proposed development, subject to 
planning conditions and obligations.  The TS and other relevant documents have 
been used to assess the impact of the proposals on the local highway network’s 
operation and safety.  The trip generation rates were reviewed and are 
considered to have a minimal impact on the local highway network.  The 
Highway Authority are satisfied that the predicted increase in vehicle trips does 
not warrant capacity impact assessments. 

Highway Safety: 
 
10.63 The applicant has provided a desktop review of Personal Injury Accidents (PIAs) 

within the vicinity of the site for the past five years and it concluded no collisions 
along the site frontage have occurred and only a limited number along the length 
of Northaw Road East between Station Road and Cattlegate Road, with none 
being fatal.  There is no obvious correlation in PIAs over the past five years and 
the number of PIAs is at a level where further intensification of the local road 
network would not result in any major highway safety concerns. 

Access: 
 
10.64 Vehicle access to the site will be taken from Northaw Road East via the existing 

site entrance which is to be improved as part of the proposals.  Whilst a 
bellmouth arrangement for a proposed development of this size would be 
preferable, the Highway Authority is not averse to the retention of the footway 
crossover as it ensures priority remains with the pedestrian – in line with Policy 1 

Page 66



of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan.  Improvements to the condition / material 
of the footway at the footway crossover have been shown on 1911-066.PL03 
Rev C and new dropped kerbs will be required.  It is likely this will need to be 
provided by a S278 Agreement (works on the public highway). 

10.65 Pedestrian access to the site would be via the footway crossover.  The Highway 
Authority are satisfied with this arrangement subject to a condition requiring a 
private speed management strategy to be submitted and approved.  The strategy 
must identify on-site measures that ensure vehicles travel at low speeds when 
routing out of the site and on approach to the footway crossover 

Visibility: 
 

10.66 The applicant has submitted visibility splay drawing (1911-066.PL03 Rev C) in 
the appendix of the Technical Note.  This drawing has demonstrated a visibility 
splay of 2.4m x 160m from the access.  On the basis that the 85th percentile 
speed has been shown to be 47.2mph, the Highway Authority are satisfied with 
the ‘one step below desirable minimum’ Sight Stopping Distances for a highway 
subject to the national speed limit.  Maintenance of the visibility splays can be 
secured by condition. 

Construction: 

10.67 To ensure construction vehicles do not have a detrimental impact in the vicinity of 
the site, a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) will be required.  
A CEMP can be appropriately secured by condition.   

Refuse Strategy: 
 

10.68 The applicant has submitted Drawing No. SP101 a swept path analysis vehicle of 
11.4m length entering and exiting the site access junction.  The Highway 
Authority are satisfied that a refuse vehicle can enter and exit the site without the 
body of the vehicle encroaching on the footway.  The Drawing Nos. SP102 and 
PL05 have shown that the maximum dragging distance for a bin collection is 25m 
and is in line with the standards set out in Roads in Hertfordshire: Highways 
Design Guide.  Details of refuse storage can be secured by condition.  

Parking provision: 

10.69 Paragraph 107 of the NPPF states that if setting local parking standards 
authorities should take into account the accessibility of the development; the 
type, mix and use of the development; the availability of and opportunities for 
public transport; local car ownership levels; and the need to ensure an adequate 
provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles. 
Paragraph 111 states that “development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”   

10.70 Policy M14 of the District Plan and the Parking Standards SPG use maximum 
standards which are not consistent with the NPPF and are therefore afforded 
less weight.  In light of the above, the Council have produced an Interim Policy 
for Car Parking Standards that states that parking provision will be assessed on 
a case by case basis and the existing maximum parking standards within the 
SPG should be taken as guidance only. 

Page 67



10.71 Based on the development mix for the scheme set out below, 28 parking spaces 
is the guideline figure for the proposed development: 

6 x 2 bedroom house (6 x 1.5 = 9 spaces) 
7 x 3 bedroom house (7 x 2.25 = 16 spaces) 
1 x 4 bedroom house (1 x 3 = 3 spaces) 

 
10.72 The proposals include the provision of 32 car parking spaces spread across 

garage, driveways, and allocated on-street parking spaces.  The Highway 
Authority are satisfied with this level of parking provision. 

10.73 All homes will benefit from secure cycle storage and EV charging facilities are 
proposed for each house, which exceeds current and emerging policy 
requirements.  Full details and implementation of cycle parking and EV charging 
facilities can be controlled by condition. 

10.74 There is no substantive evidence that the proposed development would give rise 
to a significant increase in the demand for on-street parking outside of the 
application site, or that any such increase would necessarily cause any material 
harm to highway safety or the living conditions of surrounding residential 
occupiers.  On this basis, there is no objection in relation to parking provision.   

Sustainable Travel & Accessibility 

10.75 The closest bus stops to the site are on Northaw Road East, approximately 130m 
and 180m from the proposed entrance to the Site.  The bus stops for travel in 
both directions comprise of a stop flag and timetable board.  Cuffley railway 
station is approximately a 1.2km walking distance. 

10.76 There are no dedicated cycle facilities within the immediate vicinity of the 
proposed development site.  The footway provision along Northaw Road East 
links to a wider network of footways and other pedestrian facilitates within 
Cuffley, providing routes to key services and local facilities.  The Transport 
Statement has undertaken a review of local amenities and facilities based on The 
Institution of Highways and Transportation Guidance for Acceptable Journeys on 
Foot.  The results have shown that a number of facilities are within the preferred 
maximum distance.  

5. Other considerations  
 

i) Landscape and trees  
 

10.77 District Plan Policy R17 seeks to protect existing trees whilst Policy D8 requires 
landscaping to form an integral part of the overall design, and in this respect the 
high quality design required by Policy D1 would again be relevant.  Landscaping 
is important in order to protect and enhance the existing character of the area 
and to reduce the visual and environmental impacts of the development.  
 

10.78 The NPPF sets out at paragraph 130 that planning decisions should be 
sympathetic to local character, including the landscape setting.  Paragraph 131 
acknowledges that trees make an important contribution to the character and 
quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate 
change.  Planning decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined, that 
opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments, that 

Page 68



appropriate measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of 
newly-planted trees, and that existing trees are retained wherever possible.  

 
10.79 The proposal looks to retain the majority of the trees on site including the mature 

trees and landscaping along the front boundary and flanking the site entrance.  
The proposal requires the removal of some low-quality trees, however, it is 
considered that the proposed tree planting will mitigate the loss of these trees. 
 

10.80 The number of trees on the site will be greatly increased with native species and 
fruit trees incorporated into the landscape planting scheme.  The amount of 
green space will also be greatly increased.  Perimeter enclosures are proposed 
as hedges throughout as they form a defensible boundary to the landscape and 
as identified in the landscape character assessment and would be used 
wherever possible in preference to fences.  The planting to the wider site 
boundary would provide a hedge using native species (such as hawthorn and 
buckthorn) with occasional specimen trees (such as field maple) which would 
replicate a traditional hedged boundary promoting biodiversity and achieving very 
effective screening. 
 

10.81 The application documents have been considered by the Council’s Landscape 
Officer and the proposed scheme is considered appropriate for the site.  If 
approved, details of tree protection measures, planting plans, planting methods 
and aftercare would need to be secured via condition. 

 
10.82 In summary, the development would retain and protect the mature trees and 

hedges wherever possible and appropriate, whilst also introducing new planting 
which would help assimilate the site into the wider landscape.  Detailed 
landscaping proposals and tree protection measures can be adequately secured 
through condition.  In this respect, no objections are raised with regard to the 
objectives of the District Plan, draft Local Plan or the NPPF. 

ii) Ecology and biodiversity  
 

10.83 District Plan Policy R11 seeks to conserve the biodiversity of the Borough and 
seek opportunities for enhancement to ensure no net loss of bio diversity. 
 

10.84 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that the planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity.  Paragraph 180 goes on to list principles that 
Local Authorities should apply when determining a planning application.  It is 
stated within Paragraph 180(d) that “opportunities to improve biodiversity in and 
around developments should be integrated as part of their design, especially 
where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity or enhance public 
access to nature where this is appropriate”. 
 

10.85 The Environment Act 2021 gives greater emphasis to measurable biodiversity 
net gain and advocates using the current version of the Biodiversity Metric 
(Biodiversity Metric 3.0).  However, mandatory biodiversity net gain as set out in 
the Environment Act applies in England only by amending the Town & Country 
Planning Act and is likely to become law in 2023.  

 
10.86 Hertfordshire Ecology have been consulted for this application and have advised 

that Hertfordshire Environmental Records Centre has no data specific to the 

Page 69



application site but does have field records of bats and badgers from the nearby 
vicinity.  
 

10.87 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by BABEC Ecological Consultants (March 
2021) identified the need for further surveys relating to bats, reptiles and great 
crested newts.  These surveys were subsequently completed by Jones & Sons 
Environmental Sciences using suitable methodologies.   
 

10.88 In terms of bats, the surveys did find evidence of bats in three of the buildings 
and passing through the site.  This will require careful demolition and the 
provision of mitigation as set out in the ecological consultant’s report.  Given that 
no maternity sites have been identified, the roosting sites can be effectively 
mitigated through the provision of bat boxes and crevice roosting sites within the 
development proposals.  The hedgerows and tree planting proposed will 
enhance the habitat for bats.  Further monitoring work will also be required post 
completion.  The applicant is agreed to accept planning conditions to secure the 
mitigation detailed in this report.   
 

10.89 In regard to reptiles, a population of slow worms and grass sakes was identified 
in a field adjacent to the site.  In order to mitigate any harm to these protected 
species, the field in which they are found is proposed to be improved to the 
benefit of these species which can again be controlled appropriately through 
planning condition.  The mitigation measures would encompass habitat 
improvement works and the installation of low-level fencing. 
 

10.90 The surveys established the presence of a small population of great crested 
newts within a garden pond which will be destroyed by the development.  It is 
proposed that the existing population is relocated onto land controlled by the 
applicant to the immediate south of the site.  This area will be made suitable by 
the creation of two new ponds, and improvement of the terrestrial habitats and 
existing field pond in this area.   

 
10.91 In view of the above, Hertfordshire Ecology have confirmed that sufficient 

surveys have been submitted to allow the LPA to assess the presence and 
required mitigation for these species to meet its legal requirements in regard of 
this European Protected Species in the context of this existing application. 

 
10.92 It is acknowledged that for the works relating to the destruction of the existing bat 

roosts and great crested newt habitat a licence from Natural England will be 
required.  Hertfordshire Ecology have advised that there is no reason to consider 
this will not be provided. 
 

10.93 The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal identified habitats within the existing site 
which could either attract or provide shelter for hedgehogs, badgers and nesting 
birds.  A range of different national legislation requires the protection of these 
species.  Precautionary measures have been recommended to safeguard these 
species and boxes for a range of bird species can be secured by condition.    
 

10.94 The landscaping proposals, including tree and hedgerow planting will provide an 
opportunity to improve biodiversity.  A number of existing hedgerows which were 
identified as priority habitats are being retained by the proposals.  Hertfordshire 
Ecology concluded that given the nature of the existing site, the proposed new 
landscaping is likely to achieve adequate compensation for the habitats being 
lost.  In particular, Hertfordshire Ecology supported the proposals for the creation 

Page 70



of a mixed native hedgerow, but noted that the full biodiversity benefit can be 
realised only through appropriate management.  It was also noted that 
improvements could be made in relation to species choice for the planting mix.  
Details of a landscaping scheme, together with its implementation and 
management can be secured by condition.  In addition, measures for biodiversity 
compensation can be secured via a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) and this will serve to bring together into one document the 
recommendations from the multiple ecological reports along with the applicant’s 
biodiversity proposals. 
 

10.95 Overall, there is no in principle ecological objection to the development subject to 
mitigation measures.  Further detail will be required to ensure the 
recommendations of the ecological report are delivered into a coherent ecology 
strategy.  In view of this, conditions securing these measures have been 
suggested. 

 
iii) Flood risk and sustainable drainage 
 

10.96 Emerging policy SADM14 requires Flood Risk Assessments and a sustainable 
drainage system to manage surface water run-off and surface water flood risk for 
all major developments.  The NPPF seeks to steer new development to areas 
with the lowest probability of flooding from any source.  Flood Zones are the 
starting point for this approach.  The Environment Agency identifies Flood Zones 
2 & 3 and all land outside those zones is in Flood Zone 1.  The application site is 
located entirely within Flood Zone 1 and therefore represents a very low 
probability of flooding.  

10.97 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which has been 
reviewed by the Lead Local Flood Authority.  The surface water drainage 
strategy incorporates overland attenuation and will feed into the existing surface 
water drainage features on the western boundary close to Hempshill Brook.  The 
scheme will seek to utilise permeable surfacing materials (subject to detailed 
design) for vehicular and pedestrian access with materials selected to maintain 
the rural feel. 

10.98 Hertfordshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have been 
consulted on the application and confirmed no objection subject to suggested 
conditions.  Thames Water have advised that they have no objection to the 
planning application with regard to waste water network and waste water process 
infrastructure capacity.  Subject to an appropriately worded conditions to secure 
implementation of the drainage strategy, there is no objection in this regard.  
 
iv) Contaminated land 
 

10.99 District Plan Policy R2 states that the Council will encourage development on 
land that may be contaminated.  However, on such sites applications must be 
accompanied by a full survey of the level of contamination and proposals for 
remediation of the site. 
 

10.100 The Council Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the submission and 
recommended that a condition ensuring that if any unexpected finds are 
discovered during construction further assessment work is undertaken.  
Accordingly, subject to the imposition of the above mentioned condition, the 
proposal would not be contrary to Policy R2.  

 

Page 71



v) Air quality 
  

10.101 The Local Plan advises that development proposals located within 50m of an 
identified “heavily trafficked route” should include consideration of air quality 
impacts.  In the context of the site, this falls within the relevant corridor of the 
B156, including Northaw Road East, which has been cited as a heavily 
trafficked route.  

10.102 The Council’s own air quality monitoring evidence clarifies that there are no 
exceedances against relevant air quality standards (based on particulate 
generation) in this area.  This matter has been discussed through the Local 
Plan Examination and was agreed.  The proposal would have a negligible 
impact on air quality.  On this basis, there are no objections in this regard. 

vi) Archaeology 
 

10.103 District Plan Policy R29 of the adopted District Plan states that the Council will 
require developers to undertake an archaeological assessment where the 
proposed development may affect remains of archaeological significance, or 
may be sited in an area of archaeological potential.  Emerging Policy SADM15 
states proposals that affect designated heritage assets and the wider historic 
environment should provide a Heritage Statement, Heritage Impact Assessment 
and/or Archaeological Assessment.  The application site is not within a 
Conservation Area and there are no other designated or non-designated 
heritage assets within the site.  However, the application site abuts Area of 
Archaeological Significance no. 37 as identified in the Local Plan.  This includes 
cropmarks of a polygonal enclosure of unknown date, part of the boundary of 
the 17th century deer park of Theobalds Park of which sections are visible as a 
tree line and walling, and soil marks of a linear feature.  There is also evidence 
of prehistoric activity in the vicinity, represented by concentrations of Mesolithic 
and Neolithic flints found in the area of Cuffley Hill, and at Church Close, 
Cuffley.  

10.104 Wells Farm is a 20th century farmstead, which stands on the site of a post-
medieval farmstead shown on 19th century Ordnance Survey maps [Historic 
Environment Record No 10969].  These show a farmhouse on the north east 
side of a yard lined with a large barn and other buildings.  It is possible that 
below ground remains of the demolished post medieval farmstead may survive.  
In addition, although the site has been impacted upon by the construction of the 
19th century farm buildings and ponds, and the subsequent demolition of these 
buildings, and redevelopment of the site from the late 1970s, it may retain some 
potential to contain archaeological remains of a prehistoric date.  

10.105 With the above in mind, the Historic Environment Advisor has commented that 
the position of the proposed development is such that it should be regarded as 
likely to have an impact on heritage assets with archaeological interest.  In this 
case an appropriately worded condition would be sufficient to provide for the 
level of investigation that this proposal warrants.  

vii) Accessible and adaptable dwellings 
 
10.106 As stated above, draft Local Plan Policy SP7 was subject to discussion at the 

Stage 3 Hearings in February 2018.  In response to objections a modification 
was proposed requiring that on all qualifying sites that at least 30% of all new 
dwellings on sites involving five or more dwellings be required to meet Building 

Page 72



Regulations Part M4(2) standards for accessible and adaptable dwellings.  
Also, 1.5% of all new dwellings on sites involving 50 or more new dwellings 
will be required to meet Part M4(3) standards for wheelchair user dwellings.  
This modification is set out in the schedule of Main Modifications (Examination 
Document EX235) and will form part of a future Main Modification consultation. 

10.107 The Council are applying substantial weight to this part of Policy SP7 in 
decision making given the current evidence base and support of such 
technical standards in Planning Practice Guidance.  The proposal aims for all 
dwellings to meet Part M4(3) standards, which significantly exceeds policy 
requirements.  A planning condition is suggested to ensure that at least 20% 
of new dwellings within the development adhere to this part of the Building 
Regulations. 

viii) Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

10.108 The relatively modest site area (0.49 Ha) and the number of dwellings 
proposed, together with the anticipated environmental effects of the 
development, are not considered sufficient to warrant an Environmental Impact 
Assessment. 

vii) Sustainable design and low carbon homes 
  
10.109 In June 2019 Welwyn Hatfield declared a Climate Change Emergency, with the 

aspiration of achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2030. 

10.110 The NPPF, at Paragraph 152, sets out the broad objectives that the planning 
system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate.  It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve 
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion 
of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and 
associated infrastructure. 

10.111 In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect 
new development to: a) comply with any development plan policies on local 
requirements for decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by 
the applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its design, 
that this is not feasible or viable; and b) take account of landform, layout, 
building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption. 

10.112 District Plan R3 states that the Council will expect all development to: (i) Include 
measures to maximise energy conservation through the design of buildings, site 
layout and provision of landscaping; and (ii) Incorporate the best practical 
environmental option for energy supply.  Emerging Local Plan Policy SP10 
seeks to maximise opportunities for reducing carbon emissions; encourage the 
use of renewables where it is appropriate and consistent with other policies; and 
ensure that proposals are responsive to how the climate will change over their 
lifetime and minimise their contribution to the urban heat island effect. 

10.113 The proposed development seeks to provide sustainable and energy-efficient 
new homes.  These will reflect (as a minimum) Development Plan objectives as 
well as Building Regulations requirements, alongside the aspirations of 
emerging policy.  

Page 73



10.114 The application is supported by an Energy and Sustainability Strategy which 
sets out in detail the proposed measures to minimise the level of carbon 
emissions arising from the development.  Proposed measures include:  

 Fabric First Approach to reducing the space heating energy demand:  

o High specification thermal envelope minimising heat loss  

o Junctions to be designed to minimise the effects of thermal bridging  

o High levels of airtightness; 

 Natural ventilation and decentralised mechanical extract fans and 
background ventilators; 

 Heat Pump technology providing high levels of thermal efficiency to 
provide space and water heating, dedicated low-temperature emitters will 
be used to ensure the system can operate at maximum efficiency; 

 Advanced zone heating controls providing close control of heating; 

 A Wastewater Heat Recovery System to recover up to 67% of the thermal 
energy typically wasted when showering;  

 Installation of Photovoltaic (PV) Panels to provide free renewable energy 
and PV diverter to maximise energy usage on-site by ensuring hot water is 
produced before excess energy is exported; 

 Installation of 1 Electrical Vehicles (EV) charging point to each plot to 
allow easy adoption of efficient vehicles; and  

 Low flow sanitary ware fittings to reduce potable water usage.    

10.115 In terms of location, the site lies within walking distance of key local facilities 
(such as primary schools, shops, community buildings, playground, sports and 
recreation ground) and public transport which makes it a sustainable location 
adjacent to the edge of the settlement.  All homes will benefit from secure cycle 
storage and EV charging facilities.  This provides opportunities to encourage 
use of non-car modes and reduce reliance upon fossil fuel-powered private 
cars.   

10.116 The measures summarised above provide strong positive contribution towards 
the Council’s ambitions to reduce carbon demand.  Appropriately worded 
conditions are suggested to secure delivery of the measures set out above.   

6. Planning obligations 

10.117 The NPPF sets out that Local Planning Authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the 
use of conditions or planning obligations.  Planning obligations should only be 
sought where they meet all of the following tests set out in Regulation 122 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended): 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

Page 74



 
10.118 The Council has not adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy and therefore 

where a planning obligation is proposed for a development, The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, which came into effect from 6 April 2010, 
has introduced regulation 122 which provides limitations on the use of planning 
obligations.   

 
10.119 A S106 Legal Agreement to secure planning obligations has been subject to 

negotiations with Officers.  The heads of terms sought by the Council are 
summarised below:   

 
Affordable Housing: 
 

10.120 District Plan Policy H7 seeks the provision of affordable housing on sites above 
1 ha or with 25 or more units with a minimum of 30% subsidised housing.  The 
proportion, type and mix will be based on the latest housing needs survey.  

 
10.121 Draft Policy SP7 states that for redevelopment of previously developed sites in 

sustainable locations compatible with Green Belt Policy, a target 30% of units 
should be affordable housing, subject to viability.  Whilst Policy SP7 has not yet 
been adopted, it is based upon evidence that identifies a need for this level of 
affordable housing to be provided.   

 
10.122 In line with the NPPF and Draft Policy SP7, the priority will be for affordable 

housing to be delivered on the application site.  However, where it can be 
robustly justified, off-site provision or a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 
provision may be accepted provided the agreed approach results in the delivery 
of affordable housing within contributes to the objective of creating mixed and 
balanced communities. 

 
10.123 The Planning Obligations SPD states that the following calculation shall be used 

to inform the appropriate level of commuted sum: 
 

 Where RV (100% M) = residual value with 100% market housing, RV (AH) = 
residual value with required affordable housing component (e.g. 30% 
affordable) 

 

 Commuted sum = RV (100% M) - RV (AH) 
 

10.124 The applicant has sought to market four 2-bedroom affordable dwellings with 
Registered Providers (RPs).  The only offer received was from Hightown for 
£800,000.  This offer equates to £233 per sq ft on the unit area of the four 
properties identified.  This is understood to be a final offer and would assume 
that the developer has allowed for build costs as well as associated costs (such 
as professional fees, finance, land and/or any other development costs) in 
delivering the affordable units for Hightown. 

10.125 The Council’s own evidence to the Local Plan Examination was that the typical 
developer for affordable housing can reasonably expect that the price achieved 
should cover construction costs as well as indirect costs and also some element 
of developer return to account for development risk.  This is also consistent with 
the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which highlights the range of 
cost typologies and the expectation that developer return is necessary to 
account for risk and to ensure delivery for all types of homes.  The NPPG does 

Page 75



suggest that the level of return should be lower for affordable homes where that 
allows an early transaction to reduce risk, but that assumes that all costs have 
been met and that a prompt transaction is available.  In this instance, the offer 
would not cover costs and it was conditional in nature.  

 
10.126 On this basis, it is considered necessary to revert to an alternative which is a 

commuted sum to allow off-site delivery of affordable housing.  This mechanism 
will meet the Council’s objectives to accelerate the delivery of affordable 
housing units across the Borough whilst allowing the proposed scheme to be 
viably delivered. 

10.127 A commuted sum of £914,000 has been proposed based on the formula set out 
in The Planning Obligations SPD. 

10.128 The applicant estimate’s that the Open Market Value for the development of 
these properties would be based around an achieved sales value of £500 per 
sq ft.  Given the scale of development this would mean that the Open Market 
Value for the four 2-bed properties would be £1.714m.  Given that the offer 
received was £800,000 (which represents a benchmark), the differential 
between this and Open Market Value would equate to £0.914m in this instance. 

10.129 The commuted sum is to be agreed and secured via a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and will 
form part of the S106 Agreement.  

10.130 The Council’s Housing Team is agreeable to a commuted sum in lieu of onsite 
provision.  The commuted sum would be used to meet broader Council 
objectives to deliver affordable housing in the Borough, this sum would 
accelerate the delivery of much needed affordable homes. 

Hertfordshire County Council Contributions: 
 

10.131 Hertfordshire County Council request that financial contributions are required to 
fund various Hertfordshire County Council projects in order to mitigate the 
impacts of the development.  These include: 

 

 Primary/Nursery Education: £110,988 

 Secondary Education: £121,716  

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND): £17,052  

 Library Services: £1,282 

 Youth Services: £1,758  

 Sustainable Travel: £95,564  
 

WHBC Contributions:   
 
10.132 Financial contributions and projects as follows: 

 Commuted sum payment: £914,000 

 Waste and recycling bin provision: £1,050  

 Play facilities: £4,784 

 Off Site Green Space: £1,824  

 On-site Open Space and SUDS Maintenance  

 Monitoring Fee: £5,000 
 

Page 76



10.133 All S106 financial obligations are subject to indexation. 
 
10.134 These requested contributions are considered to be reasonable and to pass the 

necessary Community Infrastructure Levy 122 tests as the works are 
considered necessary to make the development acceptable, directly related to 
the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.    

 
10.135 The applicant and Council have entered into negotiations to address the points 

outlined above and the heads of terms have been agreed with the applicant.  If 
the Development Management Committee resolve to grant planning permission 
subject of the completion of the Section 106 Agreement, this document will be 
completed.   

 
10.136 Members should note that all of the Hertfordshire County Council and Welwyn 

Hatfield Borough Council contributions, as set out, are indicative at this stage 
and subject to change as they are based on up-to-date evidence.  

10.137 The proposal, subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, would 
comply with Policy IM2; the Planning Obligations SPD; the NPPF and CIL 
Regulations 2010, as amended. 

 
7. The planning balance  
 
Five Year Housing Land Supply 
 

10.138 In decision-taking, if an authority cannot demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply, including any appropriate buffer, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development will apply, as set out in Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. 

10.139 WHBC cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable homes and the 
shortfall is considerable and significant.  

 
10.140 In addition, the Government published the housing delivery test results on 19 

January 2021.  It confirmed that Welwyn Hatfield had built 1,450 homes in the 
period 2017/18-2019/20 against a target of 2,284 which equates to 63% of its 
delivery.  

10.141 In accordance with paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF, this means that the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are to be considered to 
be out-of-date as Footnote 8 clarifies that: 

 
 “This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations 
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 
74); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing 
was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the 
previous three years.” 

 
10.142 For decision taking this means: 

 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date8, granting 
permission unless: 

 

Page 77



i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed7; or 

 
ii.  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
10.143 In accordance with Footnote 7 to Paragraph 11(d)(i), the policies referred to 

include those which protect the Green Belt.  However, for the reasons set out in 
this report, the proposal is not considered to be inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt.  Accordingly, policies which protect Green Belt do not provide a 
clear reason for refusing the development.  Therefore, the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development (also known as the tilted balance) does 
apply in this case. 

10.144 Paragraph 60 of the NPPF seeks to support the Government’s objective of 
significantly boosting the supply of homes.  In order to achieve this, the NPPF 
notes that it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come 
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without 
unnecessary delay.  

10.145 The delivery of housing represents a benefit and this development would boost 
the supply within the Borough.  This is not a position on which there would be 
any marked improvement on in the short to medium term.  For this reason 
substantial weight is afforded the provision of market housing which would 
make a positive contribution to the supply of market housing in the Borough.  

 
10.146 It is acknowledged that the persistent under delivery of affordable housing in the 

Borough presents a critical situation.  This proposal would provide a significant 
contribution towards affordable housing via a commuted sum.  The commuted 
sum would be used to meet broader Council objectives to deliver affordable 
housing in the Borough and, as such, the development would accelerate the 
delivery of much needed affordable homes which is afforded substantial weight. 

 
10.147 In terms of early delivery, Annex 2: Glossary of the NPPF provides the definition 

of a deliverable housing site: sites for housing should be available now, offer a 
suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic 
prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years.  This 
application is for full detailed planning permission and, if granted, would be 
subject to the standard three year time limit for commencement of development.  
Therefore, there is a good chance that the dwellings will be delivered within 5 
years.  This factor is afforded significant weight. 

Summary and planning balance  

10.148 The redevelopment of the site would result in the loss of an employment site in 
conflict with Policy EMP8 of the District Plan.   

10.149 With respect to Green Belt harm, the proposed development is considered to 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt compared to the 
existing situation.  However the proposal would not cause substantial harm to 
the openness of the Green Belt and it would contribute to an identified 
affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority.  

Page 78



Therefore, in principle, the proposal accords with the exception under 
Paragraph 149 g) of the NPPF and is not inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt.  Accordingly, there is no conflict with Policy GBSP1 of the District 
Plan. 

10.150 In terms of the weight attributed to the emerging Local Plan allocation, HS30 
has been assessed by the Inspector at the examination and the Inspector 
stated that the principle of development on this site has been found to be 
sound.  Notwithstanding this, the Council has considered the retention of HS30 
and has concluded there is no case for its inclusion particularly when its 
allocation would require the release of high harm land from the Green Belt. 

10.151 The release from the Green Belt and allocation of development of HS30 as part 
of the Local Plan relates to a much larger parcel of land from the Green Belt 
compared to the current application which has been submitted as the 
redevelopment of a previously developed land in the Green Belt and is 
assessed accordingly below.  Members are advised that in relation to the Green 
Belt assessment and the planning balance in this case, no positive weight 
should be afforded to the proposed allocation of HS30. 

10.152 Turning to the benefits of the proposal, there would be an economic benefit 
during the construction and landscaping phase by creating employment 
opportunities on site and indirectly supporting business through the supply 
chain.  However, the economic benefits in terms of construction would be short-
term and therefore limited.  Local business would derive some long term 
economic benefit from the future occupiers spending on goods and services but 
this would also be limited in scale.  These considerations therefore have limited 
weight in favour of the proposal. 

10.153 The proposal would provide a social benefit through the provision of 14 
dwellings and a commuted sum towards affordable housing, which would make 
a contribution towards the identified housing need within the Borough.  Further 
social benefit arises from the provision of high quality, adaptable and energy 
efficient homes.  These considerations weigh substantially in favour of the 
proposal. 

10.154 In terms of the environment, the proposal would not unduly harm the visual 
amenity or the character and appearance of the area.  The design would be 
good quality and would not unduly harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  
The proposal makes efficient use of land which reduces pressure on housing 
land take elsewhere in the Green Belt.  The new dwellings would utilise 
reasonable measures to maximise energy conservation and/or opportunities for 
renewable energy and low carbon energy supply.  The landscaping proposals, 
including tree and hedgerow planting will provide an opportunity to improve 
biodiversity and suitable compensation for the habitats being lost.  EV charging 
facilities are proposed for each house, which exceeds current and emerging 
policy requirements.  A footpath exists on the northern side of Northaw Road 
East, providing pedestrian access to Cuffley.  There are also bus stops on the 
northern and southern sides of Northaw Road West which are located along 
bus routes that provide relatively frequent bus services to nearby settlements.  
In addition, rail services as well as a school and shopping opportunities are 
within an acceptable walking distance from the site.  Therefore, the application 
site is in a location accessible by sustainable modes of travel with access to a 
range of services and facilities to meet the day-to-day needs of future 
occupiers.  These considerations weigh moderately in favour of the proposal. 

Page 79



10.155 In terms of highways impacts, it is acknowledged that a number of local 
residents have expressed concerns regarding localised congestion and overall 
highways impacts.  However, taking into account the likely vehicular traffic to be 
generated by the development and the conclusions reached by the supporting 
transport assessments, the development would not have a severe impact on the 
operation of the wider highways network.  Subject to conditions, the strategy for 
landscaping, refuse storage, parking, lighting and site drainage has been found 
acceptable and the proposals adequately address the ecological impacts and 
archaeological impacts.  All these factors are to be taken as neutral balance. 

10.156 Taking all matters into consideration, Officers are of the view that the factors in 
support of the proposal clearly outweigh the harm.  

11 Conclusion 
 
11.1 In determining planning matters the weight to be given to the evidence 

considered by the Council in coming to its decision is a matter for it alone.  The 
courts have long-recognised that town and country planning involves acute, 
complex and interrelated social, economic and environmental implications, and 
that Parliament has consequently entrusted its regulation to administrative 
decision-makers with planning experience and expertise, namely planning 
authorities (whose planning officers and committees also have local knowledge).  
Planning decisions quintessentially require planning judgments of fact and 
degree, the merits of which are a matter entirely for the appointed administrative 
decision-makers.  

11.2 In this case, the proposed development has been assessed against the policies 
of the District Plan, the draft Local Plan and the NPPF.  Subjected to conditions 
and a satisfactory S106 agreement, the proposal has been found acceptable in 
terms of impact on the Green Belt, quality of design; landscaping; amenity and 
living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers; highways; 
heritage; drainage; ecology; and supporting facilities.  Other material 
considerations have also been considered. 

11.3 The proposals would make a contribution towards addressing an acute housing 
delivery shortage and acute affordable housing need in the form of market 
housing and a commuted sum towards off site affordable housing. 

11.4 The application site is not subject to any significant constraints other than its 
Green Belt designation and is sustainably located.  The application site has been 
identified as sound in the draft Local Plan as a suitable location for such a 
development.   

11.5 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
decisions on planning applications should be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
redevelopment of the site would result in the loss of an employment site in 
conflict with Policy EMP8 of the District Plan.  Nevertheless, for the reasons 
already given, this is outweighed by the need for housing in the area. 
Consequently, this material consideration is of sufficient weight to outweigh the 
conflict with the development plan. 

12 Recommendation   
 

Page 80



12.1 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to grant planning permission 
subject to: 

a) Completion of a satisfactory S106 planning agreement and the agreement of 
any necessary extensions to the statutory determination period to complete 
this agreement;  

 
b) the following conditions: 

  
PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 

1. Approved Drawings  
The development/works shall not be started and completed other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and details: 

  
Plan Number Revision 

Number 

Details Received Date 

1718 P0-002  Existing Site Plan 24 December 2020 

1718 P0-003  Existing Site Survey 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-001  Proposed Site Plan 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-002  Proposed Landscaping 

Plan 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-005  Site Sections A And B 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-006   Site Sections C And D 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-011   H01 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-012  H01 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-021   H02 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-022  H02 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-031  H03 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-032  H03 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-041  H04 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-042   H04 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-051  H05 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-052  H05 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-061  H06 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

Page 81



1718 P1-062  H06 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-071  H07 H08 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-072  H07 H08 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-092  H09 H10 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-112  H11 H12 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-131  H13 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-132   H13 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-141  H14 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

24 December 2020 

1718 P1-142   H14 Elevations 24 December 2020 

1718 P1-143  H14  Sections 24 December 2020 

1718 P0-001 A Existing Location Plan 5 January 2021 

1718 P1-091  A H09 H10 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

5 January 2021 

1718 P0-101 A Existing Elevations Units A 

And B 

5 January 2021 

1718 P0-102 A Existing Elevations Units C 

E And G 

5 January 2021 

1718 P0-103 A Existing Elevations Units D 

And F 

5 January 2021 

1718 P1-111 A H11 H12 Floor Plans and 

Sections 

5 January 2021 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and details. 
 

2. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved Plan.  The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall identify 
details of: 

 
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b) access arrangements to the site; 
c) traffic management requirements; 
d) construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 

parking, loading / unloading and turning areas); 
e) siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 
f) cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 

Page 82



g) timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 

h) provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 
activities; 

i) post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway; and 

j) where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of 
hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements. 

 
REASON:  To protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way; to protect the living conditions of neighbouring 
properties, in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Policy R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005; Policy SADM18 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; 
and the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
3. Detailed Surface Water Drainage Scheme  

No development shall commence until a detailed surface water drainage strategy 
for the site, based on the approved drainage strategy and sustainable drainage 
principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The drainage strategy must demonstrate that surface water run-off 
generated up to and including 1 in 100 year + climate change critical storm will 
not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event.  Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved strategy.  The surface water drainage strategy 
must include: 
 
a) Confirmation of all relevant permissions for the discharge into a main river;  

 

b) Detailed engineered drawings of the proposed SuDS features including cross 
section drawings, their size, volume, depth and any inlet and outlet features 
including any connecting pipe runs; 

 

c) Final detailed post-development network calculations for all storm events up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change storm with half drain 
down times; 

 

d) Exceedance flow routes for storm events greater than the 1 in 100 year + 
40% climate change storm; and 

 

e) Final detailed management plan to include arrangements for adoption and 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 
lifetime.  

 
4. REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 

storage and disposal of surface water from the site; and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM14 of the daft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

5. Tree Protection  

Page 83



No development shall commence until an Arboricultural Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved statement.  The Arboricultural Method Statement must include:  

 
a) A specification for the pruning of trees to be retained in order to prevent 

accidental damage by construction activities; 
 
b) The specification of the location, materials and means of construction of 

temporary protective fencing and/or ground protection in the vicinity of trees to 
be retained, in accordance with the recommendations of the current edition of 
BS 5837 “Trees in relation to construction”, and details of the timing and 
duration of its erection; 

 
c) The specification of the routing and mean of installation of drainage or any 

underground services within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy 
spread of retained trees; 

 
d) The details and method of construction of any other structures such as 

boundary walls within the Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy spread 
of retained trees; 

 
e) The details of any proposed alterations to existing ground levels within the 

Root Protection Area (RPA) and/or canopy spread of retained trees; and 
 
f) Provision for the supervision, by an appropriately qualified arboricultural 

consultant, of any works within the root protection areas of trees to be 
retained. 
 

REASON:  To ensure the satisfactory protestation of retained trees, shrubs and 
hedgerows during the construction period in the interest of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy D1, D2, D8, R17 & RA10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005; Policies SP9, SADM11 & SADM16 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. Archaeology 
A) No development shall commence until an Archaeological Written Scheme of 
Investigation has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority 
in writing.  The scheme shall include an assessment of archaeological 
significance and research questions; and:  

 
1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording;  
2. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording as 

suggested by the evaluation;  
3. The programme for post investigation assessment;  
4. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording;  
5. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation;  
6. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the 

site investigation;  
7. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation.  
 

Page 84



B) The development shall take place/commence in accordance with the 
programme of archaeological works set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under condition (A).  

 
C) The development shall not be occupied/used until the site investigation and 
post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under 
condition (A) and the provision made for analysis and publication where 
appropriate. 
 
REASON:  To secure the protection of and proper provision for any 
archaeological remains in accordance with Policy R29 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan  
No development shall commence until a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority 
in writing.  Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved LEMP.  The content of the LEMP must give details 
of all the compensation and enhancement measures being utilised to ensure the 
development delivers a biodiversity net gain including, but not be limited to, those 
listed within Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by BABEC Ecological Consultants 
and the bat, great crested newt and reptile species survey reports by Jones & 
Sons Environmental Sciences.  As a minimum the following specific information 
should be provided: 

 
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works; 

 
b) habitat/feature creation measures proposed;  

 
c) details of the number type and location of native-species planting, and/or 

fruit/nut tree planting; 
 

d) the areas to be sown or planted with specific seed mixes or specific species 
for biodiversity value; 
 

e) location of retained ecological features, location and type of any habitat 
boxes/structures to be installed; 

 
f) timetable for implementation; 

 
g) maintenance of habitat/feature creation measures in the long term and those 

responsible for delivery; and 
 

h) monitoring programme and the measures required to adapt the LEMP should 
objectives fail to be met.  

 
The LEMP must also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer 
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery.  The plan must also 
set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and 
objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still 

Page 85



delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved 
scheme.   
 
The LEMP must cover all landscape areas within the site, other than small 
privately owned domestic gardens, together with any adjoining land within the 
control of the applicant which is required to deliver mitigation measures.  
 
REASON: To ensure habitats and species are safeguarded, and where 
appropriate enhanced, in accordance with Policy R11 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005; SP10, SADM16 and SADM18 of the draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

8. Protected Species 
The development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
mitigation measures of the bat reports By Jones & Sons Environmental Sciences 
(report date 24 August 2021) and within the constraints of any relevant EPS 
licence. 
 
The development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
mitigation measures in the great crested newt report By Jones & Sons 
Environmental Sciences (report date 27 September 2021) and within the 
constraints of any relevant EPS licence  
 
The development must not be carried out other than in accordance with the 
mitigation measures in the great crested newt report By Jones & Sons 
Environmental Sciences (report date 25 June 2021).  
 
The development must not be carried out other than in accordance in 
accordance with the recommended ecological mitigation measures set out in 
approved Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by BABEC Ecological Consultants 
(report date March 2021). 
 
If any of the trees identified with low bat roosting potential (Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal by BABEC Ecological Consultants, report date March 2021) are 
proposed for removal, they should be soft-felled, where limbs are cut and left 
grounded over night to allow any bats to make their way out.  In the event of bats 
or evidence of them being found, work must stop immediately, and advice taken 
on how to proceed lawfully from an appropriately qualified and experienced 
Ecologist or Natural England. 
 
REASON: To ensure the survival and protection of important species and those 
protected by legislation that could be adversely affected by the development in 
accordance with Policy R11 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; SP10, 
SADM16 and SADM18 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016, and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 

PRIOR TO ABOVE GROUND DEVELOPMENT 
 

9. Landscaping Scheme 
No development above ground level shall take place until full details on a suitably 
scaled plan of both hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development 

Page 86



shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved details.  The 
landscaping details to be submitted shall include: 

 
a) means of enclosure and boundary treatments 
b) car parking layout and markings 
c) vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas 
d) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials 
e) existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained  
f) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres, 

number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing 
g) details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of the 

development for biodiversity and wildlife 
h) details of siting and timing of all construction activities to avoid harm to all 

nature conservation features 
 
REASON:  The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and 
enhance the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual and 
environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted in accordance with 
Policies D1, D2, D8 & RA10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policies 
SP9, SADM11 & SADM16 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. Landscape Management Plan 
No development above ground level shall take place until a landscape 
management plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  This shall include a description of the features to be 
managed; aims and objectives; preparation of an annual work schedule; details 
of the body or organisation responsible for implementation and on-going 
monitoring and remedial measures.  The landscape management plan shall be 
carried out as approved.  
 
REASON:  To protect the visual amenity value of the landscaping, and the 
biodiversity value of the habitat within the site in accordance with Policies D8, 
R11 & RA10 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM16 of the 
draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

11. Noise Assessment and Mitigation 
No development above ground level shall take place until full details of a scheme 
to mitigate the noise from traffic, commercial activities, deliveries, plant and 
equipment, and sport and recreation activities shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development 
must not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.  
The scheme must include the following: 

 
a) Assessment of noise from commercial operations and details of appropriate 

mitigation measures in accordance with BS 4142.  Indoor ambient noise 
levels in living rooms and bedrooms from commercial noise sources must be 
10dB below the standards within BS 8233:2014 and LAmax levels must not 
exceed 40dB internally with windows closed.   

b) Assessment of traffic noise from the road and details of appropriate 
mitigation measures to ensure the indoor ambient noise levels in living rooms 

Page 87



and bedrooms meet the standards within BS 8233:2014. Internal LAmax 
levels should not exceed 45dB more than ten times a night in bedrooms. 

c) Outdoor amenity areas must be protected from noise by mitigation measures 
which are designed to achieve the lowest practicable levels in accordance 
with BS 8233:2014 and World Health Organisation Guidelines for Community 
Noise.    

REASON:  To protect the residential amenity and living conditions of future 
occupiers in accordance with Policy R19 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005, Policy SADM18 of the Emerging Local Plan 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. Materials 
No development above ground level shall take place until samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 
hereby granted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the development shall be implemented using the 
approved materials and subsequently, the approved materials shall not be 
changed. 

 
REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005; Policies SP1 & SP9 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

13. Refuse and Recycling 
No development above ground level shall take place until full details of refuse 
and recycling storage have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved refuse and recycling storage 
must be fully implemented and made available for use before the development is 
occupied and thereafter retained for this purpose. 
 
REASON:  In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the 
provisions for refuse and recycling storage in the interest of safeguarding the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general in accordance with 
Policy D1 of the Welwyn and Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM12 of the 
draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
14. Cycle Storage 

No development above ground level shall take place until full details of secure 
cycle parking have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved cycle parking must be fully 
implemented and made available for use before the development is occupied 
and thereafter retained for this purpose. 
 
REASON:  To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the 
needs of occupiers of the proposed development and in the interests of 
encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
Policies 1, 5 and 8 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018); 
Policies M6 & M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM3 & 
SADM12 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 88



15. EV Charging Facilities 
No development above ground level shall take place until full details of EV 
charging facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved EV charging facilities must be fully 
implemented and made available for use before the development is occupied 
and thereafter retained for this purpose. 
 
REASON:  To ensure the provision of adequate EV charging facilities in the 
interests of encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport in accordance 
with Policies 5, 19 and 20 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 
2018); Policies SP10, SADM3 & SADM12 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

16. PV Panels 
No development above ground level shall take place until full details of Solar 
Photovoltaic (PV) panels (or a suitable alternative measures to maximise energy 
conservation and/or opportunities for renewable energy and low carbon energy 
supply) have been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Subsequently the PV panels (or a suitable alternative to be agreed in 
writing) must be fully installed in accordance with the approved details, made fully 
operational prior to the occupation of the building and maintained as such for 
their operational lifetime.  The details to be submitted shall include, on a suitably 
scaled plan and written statement, the design and total number of PV panels 
which will maximise the full potential of solar photovoltaics on site (or full details 
of a suitable alternatives).  
 
REASON:  To maximise energy conservation and/or opportunities for renewable 
energy and low carbon energy supply in the interest of tackling climate change 
and creating sustainable development whilst also ensuring a satisfactory 
standard of development in the interests of visual amenity and maintaining the 
character of the area in accordance with the Polices SD1, R3, R4, D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

17. Fire Hydrants 
No development above ground level shall take place until a scheme for the 
provision of adequate water supplies and fire hydrants, necessary for firefighting 
purposes at the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the approved scheme must be fully implemented 
in accordance with the approved details before the development is occupied and 
thereafter retained for this purpose. 

 
REASON:  To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for 
the local fire service to discharge its statutory firefighting duties in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 

18. Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
No development above ground level shall take place until a scheme setting out 
the arrangements for the delivery of accessible housing within that phase has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, the development must not be carried out other than in accordance 
with the approved statement.  The scheme must include the following: 

Page 89



 
a) A schedule of units, together with appropriate plans and drawings, shall be 

submitted to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority setting out 
details of the number, layout and location of all units that will comply with Part 
M4(2) of the Building Regulations 2010; 

  
b) At least 20% of all new dwellings will meet Building Regulations Part M4(2) 

standards for ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ the delivery of which 
should be distributed across market and affordable tenures; 

 
c) All units specified as M4(2) and in the agreed schedule and plans shall be 

implemented in accordance with that approval and in compliance with the 
corresponding part of the Building Regulations in that regard;  

 
d) The person carrying out the building work must inform the Building Control 

body which requirements apply; and 
 
e) Written verification of the completion of all dwellings in accord with b) and c) 

above will be supplied to the local planning authority within 30 days of the 
practical completion [of the block it forms part of].   

 
REASON:  To ensure that suitable housing is provided for households in need of 
accessible or wheelchair housing in accordance with Policies D1 & H10 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SP7 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 

 
19. Vehicular Areas 

Prior to first occupation of the development, all on site vehicular areas, including 
internal access roads, forecourts and external parking spaces, shall be 
accessible, surfaced, marked out and fully completed in accordance with 
approved drawings.  
 
REASON:  To ensure satisfactory access into the site and parking provision for 
the development in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Policy M14 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM3 & SADM12 of the draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

20. Parking Allocation 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a scheme 
which shows the parking spaces allocated to each dwelling must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The car parking allocation 
must be provided in accordance with approved details and retained thereafter. 
 
REASON: To ensure specific flats have an allocated car parking space in 
accordance with Policy M14 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005, the 
Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance Parking Standards 2004, Interim 
Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

21. Visibility Splays 

Page 90



Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay 
shall be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved 
plan number (1911-066.PL03 Rev C).  The splay shall thereafter be maintained 
at all times free from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of 
the adjacent highway carriageway. 

 
REASON:  To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Polices SP4, SADM2 & SADM3 of the daft Local 
Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
22. On-Site Speed Management 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a private on-
site speed management strategy must be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority that identifies on-site measures that ensures vehicles travel at low 
speeds on approach to the footway crossover.  Pedestrian visibility splays at the 
footway crossover must be submitted as part of the private speed management 
strategy. 

 
REASON:  To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local 
Transport Plan (adopted 2018); Polices SP4, SADM2 & SADM3 of the daft Local 
Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
23. External Lighting  

Prior to first occupation of the development, details of external lighting must be 
submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
The external lighting scheme must meet the requirements within the Institution of 
Lighting Professionals guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive lighting, and 
should be designed to minimise light spill, in particular directing light away from 
any boundary vegetation / trees to enable dark corridors to be used by wildlife as 
well as directing lighting away from potential roost / nesting sites. 
 
The approved external lighting scheme must be installed prior to occupation of 
the development and maintained in good working order in perpetuity with the 
development. 
 
REASON: To help create a safe place and assist with the reduction of the fear of 
crime; to protect the living conditions of future occupiers and neighbouring 
properties in terms of light spill, and to protect wildlife, in accordance with 
Policies D1, D7, R11 & R20 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Polices 
SP9, SADM16 & SADM18 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
OTHERS 

 
24. Construction Times 

Page 91



Construction deliveries, demolition and construction works, which shall include 
use of any plant or machinery, cleaning and maintenance of plant or machinery, 
deliveries to the site and movement of vehicles within the curtilage of the site, 
must not take place other than between 0800 hours and 1800 hours Mondays to 
Fridays and 08:00 hours and 1300 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.  
 
REASON:  To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner which 
reduces any potential impact upon the residential amenities currently enjoyed by 
existing residents and businesses in accordance with Policy R18, R19 & R20 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM18 of the draft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
25. Previously Unidentified Contamination 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority.  

 
An investigation and risk assessment and, where remediation is necessary, a 
remediation scheme must then be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and implemented as approved. 

 
The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

 
Investigation and risk assessment  

 
The investigation and risk assessment must assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site and must be 
undertaken by competent persons.  A written report of the findings must be 
produced and the findings must include: 
 
a) A survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination. 

 
b) An assessment of the potential risks to: 

- human health; 
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings; 
- crops; 
- livestock; 
- pets;  
- woodland and service lines and pipes; 
- adjoining land;  
- groundwaters and surface waters; and 
- ecological systems;  

 
c) An appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).  
 
The investigation and risk assessment must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management 
of Land Contamination, CLR 11’. 
Remediation Scheme 
 

Page 92



Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

 
REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can 
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors, in accordance with Policy R2 of the Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan 2005, Policy SADM18 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 
2016, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
26. Landscape Implantation 

All agreed landscaping comprised in the approved landscaping scheme shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the first building, the completion of the development, or in agreed phases 
whichever is the sooner: and any plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species.  All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the guidance contained in British Standards 8545: 2014. 

 
REASON:  To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in 
the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policies 
D1, D2, D8 & RA10, of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policies SP9, 
SP10 & SADM11 of the draft Local Plan Proposed Submission August 2016; and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
27. Flood Risk Assessment 

The development hereby permitted must be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment prepared by Jonsyn Ltd project number 
700200 Revision 02 dated December 2020 and the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the Flood Risk Assessment: 

 
a) Limiting the surface water run-off generated by the critical storm events so 

that it will not exceed the surface water run-off rate of 2 l/s during the 1 in 100 
year event plus 40% climate change event.  

 

b) Providing storage to ensure no increase in surface water run-off volumes for 
all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + climate change event 
providing a minimum of 188 m3 (or such storage volume agreed with the 
LLFA) of total storage volume in attenuation basin and swale.  

 

c) Discharge of surface water from the private drain into the Main River 
Hempshill Brook.  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
maintained in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site; and to ensure surface water 

Page 93



can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM14 of the daft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

28. Drainage Management and Maintenance 
Upon completion of the drainage works for the site in accordance with the timing, 
phasing arrangements, a management and maintenance plan for the SuDS 
features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The management and maintenance plan shall 
include:  
 
a) Provision of complete set of as built drawings for site drainage;  

 
b) Maintenance and operational activities; and 

 
c) Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operations 

of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  

 
REASON:  To reduce the risk and impact of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 
storage and disposal of surface water from the site; and to ensure surface water 
can be managed in a sustainable manner in accordance with Policy R7 and R10 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005; Policy SADM14 of the daft Local Plan 
Proposed Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

29. Removal of Permitted Development Rights 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no development within Class A 
and B of Part 1 of Schedule 2 shall take place. 
 
REASON:  To enable the Local Planning Authority to fully consider the effects of 
development normally permitted by that order in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies D1 and D2 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005; Policies SP9 & SADM11 of the draft Local Plan Proposed 
Submission August 2016; and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

 
The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 

1. Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area of your 
development. There may be a legal interest (easements and other rights) in the 
land that restrict activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The 
applicant must ensure that the proposed works do not infringe on legal rights of 
access and or restrictive covenants that exist. If buildings or structures are 
proposed directly above the apparatus the development may only take place 
following diversion of the apparatus. The applicant should apply online to have 

Page 94



apparatus diverted in advance of any works, by visiting 
cadentgas.com/diversions prior to carrying out works, including the construction 
of access points, please register on www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit 
details of the planned works for review, ensuring requirements are adhered to. 
 

2. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials 
associated with the construction of this development should be provided within 
the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not 
interfere with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be 
sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further 
information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pave ments.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 
 

3. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way 
to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this 
development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way network 
becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the 
Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 

4. Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same 
Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense 
of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all 
times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the 
development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or 
other debris on the highway. Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 
 

5. Construction standards for works within the highway: The applicant is advised 
that in order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer 
of the site to enter into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as 
Highway Authority under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the 
satisfactory completion of the access and associated road improvements. The 
construction of such works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and 
specification of the Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to 
work in the public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to 
apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. 
Further information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 
 

6. Highway to remain private: The applicant is advised that all new highway 
associated with this development will remain unadopted and the developer 
should put in place a permanent arrangement for long term maintenance. At the 
entrance of the new estate the road name plate should indicate that it is a private 

Page 95

http://www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk/
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pave
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pave
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx%20telephoning%200300%201234047
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx%20telephoning%200300%201234047
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx


road to inform purchasers of their future maintenance liabilities. Further 
information is available via the website 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
7. This permission does not convey any consent which may be required under any 

legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. Any permission 
required under the Building Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained 
from the relevant authority or body e.g. Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency (water interest etc.) Neither does this permission negate or 
override any private covenants or legal interest (easements or wayleaves) which 
may affect the land. 
 

8. The development will involve the numbering of properties and/or the naming of 
new streets. The applicant MUST contact Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
Environmental Services (01707 357 000) before any name or number is 
proposed. This is a requirement of the Public Health Act 1875 and Public Health 
(Amendment) Act 1907 
 

  OR  
 
12.2 It is recommended that in the event that the applicant fails to agree any 

necessary extensions to the Statutory determination period, that powers are 
delegated to the Head of Planning to refuse planning permission on the basis of 
the absence of a completed S106 agreement for the following reason and subject 
to the application not being called in by the Secretary of State: 

1. The applicant has failed to satisfy the sustainability aims of the plan and to 
secure the proper planning of the area by failing to ensure that the development 
proposed would provide a sustainable form of development in mitigating the 
impact on local infrastructure and services which directly relate to the proposal 
and which is necessary for the grant of planning permission. The applicant has 
failed to provide a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The Local Planning Authority 
considers that it would be inappropriate to secure the required financial 
contributions by any method other than a legal agreement and the proposal is, 
therefore, contrary to Policies M2 and M4 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005. 

 
 Together with the above drawing numbers to also be included. 

 
POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE STATEMENT 

The decision has been made taking into account, where practicable and 
appropriate the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and material planning considerations do not justify a decision 
contrary to the development plan. 

Mark Peacock (Development Management) 
Date: 01/06/2022

Page 96

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx


 

  

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Christopher Dale 

Executive Member: Councillor 
S.Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

1  Introduction 

1.1  This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a 
summary of applications that might be presented to Committee over the 
coming months.  If the call-in or application is withdrawn, the item will not be 
presented. 

1.2  The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however any 
Councillor wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as a need 
for planning obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be apparent from the 
proposal or any other matter, may do so and the case officer will consider, 
where they are planning considerations, these matters raised as part of the 
future Committee report. 

1.3    Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected to 
by Town or Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a departure 
from the Local Plan, Officers consider should be determined by Development 
Management Committee, the applicant is the Borough Council or it has an 
interest in the land and an objection has been received. 

2     Recommendation 

2.1    That members note this report. 

Name of author  Christopher Dale 

Title     Assistant Director (Planning) 

Appendix 1 - Applications called-in or objected to 

ward description 

6/2016/0270/VAR 

Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL 

Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of caravans) of 
Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 5 shall be static 
caravans or mobile homes. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



Applicant Mr J Connors 

Ward Welwyn West 

Agent Mr M Green 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Please can we call this in due to the fact that this raises a lot of issues 
of concern for the residents. 
There is uneasiness about the fact that the number of caravans 
fluctuates wildly and that they residents do not appear to adhere to the 
planing that they do have. 
The restrictions regarding children is there as this was not intended to 
be a permanent site but only to give stability to the children to enable 
them to attend school. 
Are they planning to use caravans as an office sutie and run business's 
from there? [sic] 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL 

Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of caravans) of 
Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 5 shall be static 
caravans or mobile homes. 

Applicant Mr J Connors 

Ward Welwyn West 

Agent Mr M Green 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jasmine McCabe, Welwyn Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

15/03/2016 21:43 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning & Licensing 
Committee of the 15 March 2016 agreed to submit Major Objection.  
We are unclear why the existing conditions have not been enforced.  
We understand that the site was permitted as a temporary location 
linked to the schooling of the children which have now grown up and 
not as a permanent site.  We are concerned that the number of 
caravans has continued to increase overtime both with, and without, 
permission and Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council have previously 
stated that 10 is the maximum that can be accommodated.  The 
existing conditions include that the land should be restored in 
accordance with the scheme previously submitted and approved by the 
planning authority as the residents may have already changed. 
 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 100



6/2016/1493/VAR 

Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB 

Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; condition 3 
to permit eight caravans of which no more than five would be static 
caravans; condition 4 to vary the approved drawings; and condition 5 to 
vary the site development scheme; of planning permission 
S6/2011/0116/FP 

Applicant Mr J Robb 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mrs A Heine 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

I would like to formally 'call in ' this applicaiton as it meets at least two 
of the key criteria for a call in, namely 1. The application is of an 
unusually sensitive nature as the current use of the site has led to 
significant adverse impact on neighbours amenity and that 
development beyond that permitted had occurred at the site. 2. The 
wider ramifications are the potential impact of permitting this 
development may have on setting precedent for permitting 
neighbouring sites in the forthcoming local plan examination in public. 
There is also the precedent that would be set of permitting such 
developments, even for a limited period, in flood zones. 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Mark Peacock 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB 

Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; condition 3 
to permit eight caravans of which no more than five would be static 
caravans; condition 4 to vary the approved drawings; and condition 5 to 
vary the site development scheme; of planning permission 
S6/2011/0116/FP 

Applicant Mr J Robb 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mrs A Heine 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Christine Wootton, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

NMPC OBJECT as this is clearly a new application. The name of the 
applicants is not the name to whom the extant  Permission was 
originally given. 
 
The Government Planning Policy for traveller sites Policy E, in its 
introduction, states that making and decision taking should protect the 
Green Belt from inappropriate development - Item 4d and Item 16 state 

Page 101



that inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt except in 
exceptional circumstances. None have been indicated.  
 
Item 4f - further states the local planning authority should aim to reduce 
the number of unauthorised developments and encampments.  This 
site has consistently exceeded the numbers stated in the original 
Permission and it is too small a site to be abused in this way. 
 
Item 4k - states the local planning authority have to have due regard to 
the protection of local amenities and local environment. 
There  have also been sanitary issues arising from the over-use of the 
site. 
One or more travelling caravans have also been let to itinerant workers 
in contravention to the terms of the licence.  This has caused 
considerable problems to the neighbourhood. 
 
Item 13 of the Planning Policy for traveller sites states the local 
planning authority should ensure that their policies: 
 
a)  promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and 
the local community  
 
f)  avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services  
 
g)  do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including 
functional floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of caravans 
 
Policy E, Item 24 addresses local provision and it is the case that 
WHBC do not have a firm policy on Gypsy and Traveller sites in the 
Borough but there are existing sites in Welham Green – including a 
long term Showmans site which causes no trouble – however the 
Foxes Lane site also is also over used as the numbers of caravans 
exceeds the permitted numbers. 
Item 27 states that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an 
up to date 5 year supply of  deliverable sites this should be a material 
consideration and in this case the existing sites result in  over supply in 
Welham Green therefore any expansion is unwarranted. 
 
Item 25 states that the local planning authority should very strictly limit 
traveller site development  in the Green Belt and further ….”sites in 
rural areas do not dominate the nearest settled  community.” Expansion 
of this site would cause stress on services and neighbours. 
 
Item 16 Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt and 
should not be approved, except in very special circumstances. Traveller 
sites (temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are inappropriate 
development.  Subject to the best interests of the child, personal 
circumstances and unmet need are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to 
the Green Belt and any other harm so as to establish very special 
circumstances, none of which have been indicated in this case. 

Page 102



 
Item 24(a) The Local Planning Authority has to take into account the 
existing level of local provision and Welham Green currently has 
provision.  Indeed, even this is exceeded unlawfully – see report from 
Dennis Pennyfather, Licensing Technical Officer, dated 24 August 
2016. 
 
Item 25 This further states the Local Planning Authority should very 
strictly limit …. sites in rural areas should not dominate the nearest 
settled community.  Of late the activities at Thunderbridge Yard have 
caused extreme concern and disturbance to the neighbourhood.  Police 
and other authorities are aware of this, which seems to arise from the 
subletting of the excessive on-site accommodation to persons other 
than gypsies or travellers. 
 
Footnote 9 States there is no presumption that a temporary grant of 
Planning Permission should be granted permanently, therefore North 
Mymms Parish Council consider, taking into account comments by 
Licensing Technical Officer that the site is not big enough, there are fire 
safety issues and this is a known flood plain with previous flooding 
issues, caravans on this Green Belt site are inappropriate development. 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Mark Peacock 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/0181/MAJ 

Address Former Shredded Wheat Factory Broadwater Road Welwyn Garden 
City AL7 1RR 

Proposal Hybrid planning application comprising: Detailed Planning Application 
for 399 Private Rented Sector (PRS) dwellings and 153 dwellings 
(Class C3), 250 units of residential care accommodation for the elderly 
(Use Class C2) with associated communal facilities, 15,247m2 of 
community and commercial hub (Use Classes E and F1) with 
associated cycling hub, car parking, access, landscaping, public art and 
other supporting infrastructure; and Outline Planning Application for up 
to 418 dwellings (Class C3) with all matters reserved except access. 

Applicant  

Ward Peartree 

Agent Mr Nick Pellegram 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Malcolm Cowan, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Please note I would like to call this in for committee decision, as it 
currently appears to 
conflict with a number of council policies and the council's Broadwater 
Rd SPD. 
 

Page 103



Case 
Officer 

Mr William Myers 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/0671/MAJ 

Address South Side Former Shredded Wheat Factory Broadwater Road Welwyn 
Garden City 

Proposal Erection of 317 dwellings (Class C3) with associated access, parking, 
landscaping and other supporting infrastructure, and outline planning 
for up to 404 dwellings (Class C3) with all matters reserved for access. 

Applicant Adam Wadsworth 

Ward Peartree 

Agent Rob Morgan 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Malcolm Cowan, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Thanks. I would like to call this one in, though I realise it was probably 
heading to DMC anyway. 
  
My reasons are the conflict between the application and many of the 
council's policies, including but not limited to the Broadwater Road  
SPD, and the very high level of public interest indeed outrage. 
  

Case 
Officer 

Mr William Myers 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/1277/OUTLINE 

Address B&Q, Swallowfields, Welwyn Garden City, AL7 1JD 

Proposal Outline application for redevelopment of the site to provide 151 
dwellings with all matters reserved except for access. 

Applicant Thrive Homes  

Ward Peartree 

Agent James Holmes 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Jayne Lesley Ranshaw, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

17/05/2021 10:31 - I would like to call in this application as it has 
attracted an unusually high level of public interest such as objection 
letters submitted within the planning portal. The application would result 
in the loss of retail / employment land.  

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/3096/OUTLINE 

Page 104



Address Land North East of Welwyn Garden City Panshanger Welwyn Garden 
City AL7 2QJ 

Proposal Outline application for the erection of up to 210 dwellings (Class C3), 
associated infrastructure, landscaping, provision of allotments and 12 x 
Gypsy & Traveller pitches with all matters reserved except access 

Applicant Homes England 

Ward Haldens 

Agent Mr D Jobbins 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Jane Quinton, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

13/12/2021 11:18 - I wish to call in this application because it proposes 
a major development on greenbelt land which is not within the current 
local plan and exceeds the proposals in the draft Local plan. In addition, 
the application does not comply with Biodiversity legislation in the 2021 
Environment act. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Emily Stainer 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/3380/MAJ 

Address 73 Bridge Road East Welwyn Garden City AL7 1UT 

Proposal Erection of 2 x buildings comprising of 111 x apartments, access, car 
and parking works, and landscaping and ancillary development, 
involving demolition of existing building 

Applicant Mr David Cooper 

Ward Peartree 

Agent Mr Tim Waller 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Russ Platt, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

14/12/2021 13:48 - I wish to call-in this application as I do not believe 
this application has adequately addressed the previous reasons for 
refusal. The previous application attracted an unusually high level of 
public interest and this is a major application which should be 
considered by committee. I would withdraw this if the officer decision is 
to refuse the application. 
 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2021/3538/OUTLINE 

Address Upper Bell Lane Farm Bell Lane The Brookmans Park Estate Bell Bar 
Hatfield AL9 6JN 

Page 105



Proposal Outline permission for residential development for up to 110 dwellings, 
associated infrastructure and the provision of a new footpath and 
cycleway with all matters reserved except a new vehicular access from 
Bell Lane 

Applicant Aurora Properties (UK) Limited 

Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath 

Agent Mr Roland Bolton 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Christine Wootton, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

10/02/2022 11:47 - See attached file 

Case 
Officer 

Mr David Elmore 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/0015/FULL 

Address 58 St Albans Road East Hatfield AL10 0EH 

Proposal Erection of a one and half storey community centre with ancillary prayer 
space following the demolition of the existing structure 

Applicant Mr Abdul Rouf 

Ward Hatfield East 

Agent CityScape PA 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jonah Anthony, Hatfield Town Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

11/02/2022 11:36 -  
The modified profile of the building is less dominating and the reduced 
height is welcomed. However the parking issue has not been resolved. 
The statement by the parking officer outlines the many errors in the 
planning document. The image on page 11 of the Transport document 
is completely out of date. Parking options are limited to the Multi-storey 
car park in The Common and Asda customer car park. We assume the 
one non-disabled parking space is for staff. Does this mean there will 
never be 2 or more staff requiring parking on duty? The small patch of 
land between this site and the existing church is used for funeral and 
wedding cars and those visiting the graveyard. It can not be used as a 
builders compound. The site is on a busy roundabout with limit access 
and egress. Large numbers of cars dropping people off and picking up 
will be a danger for other drivers. There still appears to be no fire 
escape from the upper floor of the building which we consider to be a 
serious ommission. The tree reports included are now over 4 years old 
and the trees in Coronation Gardens and the Church yard should be 
reconsidered. The diagrams associated with the tree report do not 
show the proposed footprint of the planned building so how can the 

Page 106



comments be accurate? We hope from these comments it is clear that 
the purpose of a community centre is not the issue. For these reasons 
we still raise a major objection to this development. 
 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Louise Sahlke 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/0142/FULL 

Address 23 & 25 Station Road Digswell Welwyn AL6 0DU 

Proposal Demolition of two vacant commercial units and erection of two 
apartments, incorporating a retail unit at ground floor level, and four 
semi-detached dwellings with residential/private parking, cycle store, 
refuse store, private and communal amenities 

Applicant  

Ward Welwyn East 

Agent Sir/Madam 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Called in/Email from Paul, thru Cllr Julie Cragg 
Hi Julie 
Hope you have been keeping safe and well in these still difficult times. 
You will have seen that a new planning application was submitted last 
week for the site of the old 
butchers shop and the area behind. 
Although this is a small improvement on the previous application (which 
was withdrawn in March 
2021) in that the houses are now 2 storeys rather than 2.5 storeys and 
the basement and the ground 
floor flat have been removed from the block at the front, I still believe it 
is an overdevelopment of the 
site. In particular the car parking requirement for the number of units 
means that there are insufficient 
spaces retained for exiting uses and users. 
I would be very grateful if you could do the necessary for the application 
to be 'called in' so that it is 
determined by Committee. 
I attach my initial comments on the new application. They are not in the 
form of a formal objection, but 
could form the basis for reasons for the application to be called in. 
Thanks for your help. 
All best wishes 
 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Louise Sahlke 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/0442/FULL 

Page 107



Address 84 Warrengate Road North Mymms Hatfield AL9 7TY 

Proposal Erection of a replacement dwelling with attached garage following 
demolition of existing dwelling (retrospective) 

Applicant Mr N Neocleous 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mr Tyrone Koursaris 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Christine Wootton, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

23/03/2022 11:49 - The proposal is totally out of keeping by virtue of 
the scale, volume, mass and lack of sympathetic design. It would be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would have a 
detrimental impact on the openness, particularly at this highly visible 
corner site therefore would cause harm. 
The original building was single storey in keeping with all the 
bungalows at this end of Warrengate Lane and was set well back from 
the road. The proposal bears no relation as a replacement and 
contravenes NPPF paragraph 147, 148 and 149.d). No special 
circumstances have been demonstrated and given that it was built in 
1929 pre the 1947 Planning Act the amount of protection afforded to 
the site should carefully take account of the size of the original building. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Ashley Ransome 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Address 84 Warrengate Road North Mymms Hatfield AL9 7TY 

Proposal Erection of a replacement dwelling with attached garage following 
demolition of existing dwelling (retrospective) 

Applicant Mr N Neocleous 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mr Tyrone Koursaris 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

30/03/2022 11:44 - In the event that the case officer intends to 
recommend approval I would like to call in this application as it presents 
a departure from local planning policy and is locally sensitive in terms of 
the impact on the green belt of this application. Specifically, the 
construction of a two storey dwelling with a pitched roof departs 
radically from the form and structure of the street in which this site sits 
(all being single-storey, albeit with high pitched roofs, many with 
conversioins). This sensitive location would present issues with local 
residents as being out of keeping. Further, the impact on green belt of   
the increased height and volume of the proposed structure would mean 
the application was not compliant with planning policy and as such that 
departure means the application should be determined by committee. 
 

Page 108



Case 
Officer 

Ms Ashley Ransome 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/0820/OUTLINE 

Address Emmanuels Farm Great North Road Welwyn Garden City AL8 7TA 

Proposal Outline Planning Application for a residential development of up to 20 
affordable units. Access, layout and scale are for approval; landscaping 
and appearance are reserved matters. 

Applicant Millen Homes 

Ward Hatfield Villages 

Agent Mr Tal Nikan 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jonah Anthony, Hatfield Town Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

The Town Council would like to raise a major objection on the grounds 
that the expected exposure to traffic noise is above the BS 8233 
recommended guidelines 
 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Louise Sahlke 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1045/HOUSE 

Address 13 Lockley Crescent Hatfield AL10 0TL 

Proposal Proposed extension and alterations to an existing outbuilding to form 
ancillary habitable accommodation 

Applicant Mr Ditella Pasquale 

Ward Hatfield Cent. 

Agent  Jeff Andrews 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jonah Anthony, Hatfield Town Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

26/05/2022 09:23 - The Town Council has significant concerns about 
the current outbuilding, in terms of its design, construction and current 
use.  On this latter point, the application seems to indicate that this is 
an ancillary building to the existing property, whilst the accompany 
documentation seem to suggest that this would be an independent 
dwelling with its on access from Drovers Way.  Comments from the 
neighbours would suggest that this is already the case. The Town 
Council feels strongly that any enforcement investigation and action 
should be concluded before planning permission for this application is 
considered. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Elizabeth Mugova 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 109



6/2022/1107/OUTLINE 

Address Roebuck Farm Lemsford Village Lemsford AL8 7TW 

Proposal Outline Application for the development of up to 33 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) together with all ancillary works (all matters reserved except 
access) at land at Roebuck Farm, Lemsford Village 

Applicant Shortgrove Developments Ltd 

Ward Hatfield Villages 

Agent Ms Maria Boyce 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor James Broach, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

9/06/2022 20:10 - I would like to call this application for consideration at 
DMC please, unless the recommendation is for refusal, in which case I 
am happy for the decision to be made by officers. 
 
My reasons for the call in is that myself and several residents in the 
ward are concerned that the proposal may be overdevelopment of the 
site, and that the proposal may result in overlooking and or loss of light 
to existing properties. Residents have also expressed concerns about 
the impact on the existing wildlife/ecological structure around the 
village. 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Address Roebuck Farm Lemsford Village Lemsford AL8 7TW 

Proposal Outline Application for the development of up to 33 dwellings (Use 
Class C3) together with all ancillary works (all matters reserved except 
access) at land at Roebuck Farm, Lemsford Village 

Applicant Shortgrove Developments Ltd 

Ward Hatfield Villages 

Agent Ms Maria Boyce 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Samuel Kasumu, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Called in 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 
 

 
 

6/2022/1113/FULL 

Address 55 Cherry Way Hatfield AL10 8LF 

Proposal Change of use from single dwelling (C3) to HMO (C4) 

Page 110



Applicant Mrs Sruti Gudka 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mrs Sruti Gudka 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

17/07/2022 17:30 - I assume this application is presented in this way 
due to the article 4 direction in place. The application raises sensitive 
local panning issues, not least the likely impact on parking in the area, 
which is under massive pressure, yet this house has none associate 
with it and will have none once converted to a HMO. I also believe 
many more than the 20% threshold for HMOs within the set distance 
will be identified. If the case officer is minded to grant, I would like this 
application called in for a committee decision. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Elizabeth Mugova 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1267/FULL 

Address Milkwood Farm Dixons Hill Close Welham Green Hatfield AL9 7EF 

Proposal Erection of replacement dwelling and cartlodge following demolition of 
all buildings / structures on site 

Applicant Mr  Brian Lenihan 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Agent Mr Barney Walker 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Christine Wootton, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

16/06/2022 12:35 - This is over-development in the Green Belt as this 
application bears no relation to S6/2014/2586/MA and is nearly three 
times the size.  Therefore, it would affect the openness of the Green 
Belt.  No Special Circumstances have been given to outweigh the 
visual amenity and the location.  It is three times the size because it is a 
house and a garage and the flood risk is circumstantial. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Elizabeth Mugova 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1308/FULL 

Address 41 Hawkshead Lane North Mymms AL9 7TD 

Proposal Subdivision of the plot and the erection of a new building housing a pair 
of semi-detached dwellings with associated parking, bins and shared 
access following the part demolition of the existing dwellinghouse 

Applicant Mr Eric Handler 

Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South 

Page 111



Agent Mr R Patel 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Christine Wootton, North Mymms Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

30/06/2022 10:44 - This is inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
This is not a gap site.  The previous permission 6/2019/0844 is not 
material as each application should be judged on its own merits.   
There is constrained access on a bend and very sloping with 
insufficient parking for three x four-bedroom houses.  The height, size 
and mass would affect the openness of the Green Belt and would not 
match the existing house with front dormers.  The proposed houses 
would not be subordinate to the existing property.  The Green Belt 
would be adversely affected which would result in the loss of visual 
amenity and result in harm.  No Special Circumstances have been 
given.   

Case 
Officer 

Ms Emily Stainer 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1355/MAJ 

Address Former Beales Hotel Comet Way Hatfield AL10 9NG 

Proposal Demolition of existing building and construction of 145 residential units 
(Use Class C3) with private and communal amenity space, 
landscaping, access, associated car and cycle parking, refuse and 
recycling storage and supporting infrastructure. 

Applicant Hatfield Park Homes Ltd 

Ward Hatfield Villages 

Agent Mr Mark Westcott 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jonah Anthony, Hatfield Town Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Hatfield Town Councils Planning, Environment and Policy committee 
wish to raise a major Objection on many issues; 
Property Mix and Design 
This a large development with a large number of 1 bedroom dwellings - 
about 40% of the total. These dwellings are likely to attract students 
and the 2 & 3 bedroom flats, couples and families. This is a difficult mix 
and is unlikely provide a cohesive community. 
Restrictive covenants or planning conditions needed to restrict 
occupation of 2 and 3 bed apartments to family units. Put restrictions on 
use as HMo's. The design appears to lack any social housing. 
 
This site is best suited to student living, a mix of semi communal and I 
bed room 2 person accommodation 
If redesigned as student accommodation, many concerns fall away and 
car parking could be reduced to sustainable development levels of 0.6 
or less spaces per dwelling 

Page 112



Is one of the two lifts in each tower, big enough to function as a goods 
lift? 
There is no Mention of the BREEM rating - it should achieve excellent 
Massing - North side of building – this is long and heavy mass 
The Design and Access Statement makes reference to being inspired 
by local buildings with a strong horizontal design elements (which are 
positive features) and says the design reflects these. in fact, the 
dominant lines are the bulky vertical columns, so the design is markedly 
different to the buildings referenced in the statement. 
 
Site History 
The Site History element of the design and Access statement is full of 
errors 
 
Sustainable location, Travel Plan, Access and Parking 
The development is described as being in a sustainable location. The 
development requires a travel plan, but it has almost no measures. 
People change their travel choices following life events, waiting 6 
months before offering intervention is a missed opportunity as they will 
have already adjusted their transport, and if it means buying a car, they 
will not give it up. The Travel Plan process needs to offer support 
before people move in, offering a personal planning session and 
voucher to experience local bus travel for 1 month free of charge, first 
years membership of the car club and some complimentary use. The 
car club cars should be electric. 
The Transport report and Travel Plan are a cut and paste from planning 
application in London. There are still mention of tube journeys in the 
journey type matrix and Oyster cards The disabled parking spaces at 
the front (why are they there) are accessed by passing in front of the 
main entrance - poor design adds vehicle/pedestrian conflicts.It is 
unclear how deliveries will be made from HGV's to the front doors. 
Removal vans cannot get into the car park or close to the block 
entrances. this could result in vehicles queuing on the dual 
carriageway to enter the site - Hazard. It is likely that the refuse lorries 
will attempt to reverse into the site from the dual 
carriageway or three point turn in the pedestrian area outside the main 
entrance. Any vehicles stopped or reversing near the main access will 
result in vehicles queuing on thedual carriageway to enter the site - 
Hazard 
 
Would the Highway Authority require closing access from Comet Way. 
The developers 
should instead promote a shorter access road from Parkhouse Court. 
The Developers should make the development more porous, with 
pedestrian/cycle access too Parkhouse shops and to Mosquito Way 
 
Access to open space 
Application fails to provide outdoor green space or access to offsite 
green space. The 
development provides 82 2 and 3 bedroom flats - family dwellings, that 

Page 113



will need access to 
greenspace and child play areas. 
 
Access 
The Highway Authority has a policy of removing accesses to A road 
when a site is 
redeveloped, the proposed access is therefore contrary to the HA's 
policy and an alternate 
location should be found - there is a possible access on to Clarkton 
Court, which passes 
behind the shops and flats adjacent to the site. Alternatively the existing 
vehicle access 
between the car park and Parkhouse Court could be repurposed to 
form the motorised 
access to the development. 
 
We disagree that the access to the site is safe. The pattern of arrivals 
and departures for 
residential is different to that of a hotel, with more manoeuvres in the 
AM and PM peaks. 
It's not just numbers, its site specific. Given the platoons of traffic 
generated by the Comet 
Hotel roundabout traffic signals, a vehicle slowing right down to turn left 
is likely to lead to 
rear end collisions and near misses, which will not be recorded in the 
official statistics as 
they rarely result in injuries. The access to the site should be a 
continuous footway and most importantly cycleway and a 
discontinuous carriageway. This requirement adds to the safety 
concerns as drivers will be 
more concerned about fast moving traffic behind them, rather than the 
vulnerable 
pedestrians and cyclist in front of them. This mixture of strategic policy, 
site specific issues of platooning traffic and vulnerable road 
users, means that the access needs to go elsewhere 
 
EV Charging 
I understand that 100% of parking spaces are now required to have EV 
charging facilities. 
This development would have 10%. 

Case 
Officer 

Mr David Elmore 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1436/LB 

Address 6 Northaw Place Coopers Lane Northaw Potters Bar EN6 4NQ 

Proposal Installation of 32 solar photovoltaic panels to front roof slope 

Applicant Mr Tomas Larsson 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Page 114



Agent  

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

5/08/2022 13:53 - The Council reviewed the application in detail and a 
major objection was agreed to be submitted on the basis that it was 
inappropriate to have solar panels attached to an historic listed building  

Case 
Officer 

Ms Kirsty Shirley 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1453/FULL 

Address 25A Station Road Digswell Welwyn AL6 0DU 

Proposal Subdivision of single dwelling house (C3) to 2no. dwelling flats (C3) 

Applicant Stay New Homes 

Ward Welwyn East 

Agent Liam Sutton 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

Please can you call this in as there is local concern on parking & also 
how these fit in to the area & other proposed development. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Louise Sahlke 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1570/HOUSE 

Address 3 The Ridgeway Cuffley Potters Bar Hertfordshire EN6 4AY 

Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and alterations to front 
elevation, rear terrace with steps to garden level 

Applicant Mr Umit Aydemir 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Agent Michael David 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

5/08/2022 13:58 - The Council reviewed the application in detail and a 
major objection was agreed to be submitted on the basis that the 
proposed development is too close to the boundary and it is believed 
does not meet tree and shrubbery criteria.  The proposed building 
bears no resemblance to the current building or the previous building.  
No drawings have been offered on the current building, therefore the 
drawings are not accurate.  There is also concern that the raising of the 
terrace areas is such that it will over look neighbours.  On the basis that 

Page 115



there is missing information and the drawings are inaccurate and 
possibly misleading the Council do not feel enough information has 
been provided to make any other decision other than a major objection 
in this case.  

Case 
Officer 

Ms Ashley Ransome 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1610/HOUSE 

Address 53 High Road Essendon Hatfield Hertfordshire AL9 6HS 

Proposal Extension of dropped kerb 

Applicant Ms Miranda Makowski 

Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath 

Agent Ms Miranda Makowski 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Ms Nerine Chalmers, Essendon Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

24/08/2022 20:00 - Essendon Parish Council strongly objects to this 
new planning application.  Please see the attached letter detailing the 
objections of the council. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Ashley Ransome 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1619/HOUSE 

Address 123 Tolmers Road Cuffley Potters Bar EN6 4JW 

Proposal Erection of ancillary annex following demolition of existing garage 

Applicant Mr and Mrs S and E Biggs 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Agent Mr Sam Dicocco 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

26/08/2022 11:59 - The Parish Council submit an objection on the basis 
that in the opinion of the Parish Council this application is not an 
annexe it is a self contained property with its own access, kitchen and 
the ability for cars to be parked outside the property.  The Parish 
Council consider this inappropriate development in the Green Belt and 
submit this as a major objection.  

Case 
Officer 

Ms Ashley Ransome 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1654/VAR 

Address 12 Elm Drive Hatfield Hertfordshire AL10 8NU 

Page 116



Proposal Variation of condition 6 (approved drawing numbers) on planning 
application 6/2020/2845/FULL 

Applicant Mrs V Putina 

Ward Hatfield South West 

Agent Mr Andrei Craiescu 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Timothy Rowse, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

28/07/2022 11:05 - I went to see the property yesterday and in my 
opinion this is not a minor variation to what was agreed originally but 
rather demonstrates a complete disregard to what was agreed in the 
initial planning application. The changes to both the chimney and the 
addition of what appears to be a balcony window would be a complete 
invasion of the privacy of the neighbour at no. 10 Elm Drive. 

Case 
Officer 

Ms Elizabeth Mugova 
 

 

6/2022/1748/FULL 

Address Land North-West of 39 Church Street Welwyn AL6 9LP 

Proposal Erection of 3.5 storey block containing 23 flats and 18 underground 
parking spaces and associated landscaping. 

Applicant Decorum Partners London 

Ward Welwyn West 

Agent James Bradford 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Councillor Tony Kingsbury, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

24/08/2022 09:55 - I would like to call in this application to committee if 
the officer is minded to approve it on the basis that:- 
1. This is overdevelopment of the site and out of keeping with the 
conversation area and heritage properties nearby. 
2. There is a very high level of public interest against the application. 
3. Car parking is a concern, with less than one space per flat in a 
village where little alternative parking is available. 
 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

Address Land North-West of 39 Church Street Welwyn AL6 9LP 

Proposal Erection of 3.5 storey block containing 23 flats and 18 underground 
parking spaces and associated landscaping. 

Applicant Decorum Partners London 

Ward Welwyn West 

Page 117



Agent James Bradford 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

Jasmine McCabe, Welwyn Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

24/08/2022 10:53 - Please see attached file 

Case 
Officer 

Mr Raymond Lee 

_________________________________________________________ 

 

6/2022/1785/FULL 

Address Land adjacent to 26 Starling Lane Cuffley Potters Bar EN6 4JX 

Proposal Erection of a one-storey one bedroom dwelling 

Applicant Code 4 LTD 

Ward Northaw and Cuffley 

Agent Mrs Gretel Muller 

Call-
In/Objectio
n from 

The Clerk, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

26/08/2022 12:02 - Parish Council repeats its previous objection to 
development of this kind at this location as it is inappropriate 
development within the green belt.  There is no vehicular access, 
development is unreasonable as there is only a footpath which 
accesses the site, there is also no off street parking provision and these 
are the reasons for a major objection.   

Case 
Officer 

Ms Elizabeth Mugova 

_________________________________________________________
__ 

 
 

 

Page 118



   

 

Appendix 2 - All other applications not comprising call-ins or objections 

 ward description 

6/2020/1162/MAJ 

Address Howlands House, Howlands, Welwyn Garden City AL7 4SD 

Proposal Erection of 72 units of temporary residential accommodation with 
a staff office, children's play area, parking, cycle store, refuse 
areas, landscaping and amenity space, following demolition of 
existing buildings 

Applicant Ms C Humphrey 

Ward Howlands 

Agent Ms C Humphrey 

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision 

This is a major application which has been submitted by the 
Council's Housing team and officers consider that in accordance 
with the constitution it should be dealt with by the Council's 
Development Management Committee. 

Case Officer Mr William Myers 

  
 

 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 THE BUNGALOW GREAT NORTH ROAD HATFIELD HERTFORDSHIRE AL9 6DB - 6/2022/0598/OUTLINE - OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF TWO DETACHED DWELLINGS (BUNGALOW DESIGN) WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED
	8 4 STRAWBERRY FIELD, HATFIELD, AL10 8LS - 6/2022/0061/FULL - CHANGE OF USE FROM A RESIDENTIAL DWELLING (USE CLASS C3(A)) TO RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME TO ACCOMMODATE 3 X CHILDREN (USE CLASS C2)
	9 22A CHURCH LANE NORTHAW POTTERS BAR EN6 4NX - 6/2021/2754/FULL - ERECTION OF A 5-BEDROOM DETACHED DWELLING
	10 WELLS FARM NORTHAW ROAD EAST CUFFLEY POTTERS BAR EN6 4RD - 6/2020/3451/MAJ - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS AND ERECTION OF 14 DWELLINGS
	11 PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	11 - Appendix 2 Future Applications Cttee Report No Call-In


